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(Dollars in thousands) 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

SELECTED ITEMS AT YEAREND

Total Assets $140,190,008 $115,912,047 $ 81,123,903 $ 60,846,583 $ 52,186,715

Advances 110,031,641 90,513,829 63,989,305 49,272,904 39,184,189

Mortgage-Backed Securities 10,762,539 7,048,793 5,670,246 5,639,169 5,609,517

Resale Agreements 400,000 2,558,885 2,226,625 1,174,920 3,227,395

Federal Funds Sold 8,376,000 8,636,000 4,894,000 2,329,000 1,640,000

Other Non-MBS Investments 7,460,154 5,035,236 2,705,565 1,116,618 1,455,557

Consolidated Obligations 129,463,039 107,402,435 73,960,601 55,380,528 47,431,088

Capital 6,292,145 5,438,399 4,435,302 3,544,880 3,150,392

Tangible Capital to Assets Ratio 4.49% 4.69% 5.47% 5.83% 6.04%

AVERAGE ANNUAL MARGINS AND COSTS

Net Interest Margin 0.44% 0.41% 0.49% 0.56% 0.53%

Adjusted Net Interest Margin* 0.45 0.42 0.51 0.58 0.56

Other Operating Expenses as a 

Percent of Average Assets 0.03 0.04 0.05 0.05 0.06

ANNUAL OPERATING RESULTS

Net Income $ 376,589 $ 332,553 $ 294,066 $ 249,072 $ 219,457

Return on Average Assets 0.29% 0.35% 0.43% 0.46% 0.44%

Return on Average Equity 6.37 6.87 7.54 7.44 7.60

Dividend Rate 7.17 5.36 5.76 6.10 6.11

ADJUSTED ANNUAL OPERATING RESULTS*

Adjusted Net Income $ 381,380 $ 337,116 $ 279,925 $ 258,563 $ 226,906

Adjusted Return on Average Assets 0.30% 0.35% 0.41% 0.47% 0.45%

Adjusted Return on Average Equity 6.46 6.96 7.18 7.73 7.86

PRO FORMA:  OPERATING RESULTS ADJUSTED FOR REFCORP ASSESSMENTS**

Net Income $ 376,589 $ 284,859 $ 245,563 $ 199,970 $ 168,870

Adjusted Net Income 381,380 289,422 231,422 209,461 176,319

Adjusted Return on Average Assets 0.30% 0.30% 0.34% 0.38% 0.35%

Adjusted Return on Average Equity 6.46 5.98 5.93 6.26 6.10

Financial Highlights

* Adjusted financial performance measures reflect the recognition of advance prepayment fees over the term of prepaid

advances rather than at the time of prepayment. Extraordinary and other nonrecurring gains and losses are similarly 

adjusted to provide financial performance measures that are more meaningful when comparing results to those from other

time periods.

** As a result of the Federal Home Loan Bank System Modernization Act of 1999, beginning in 2000 the REFCORP assessment

is classified as an expense and is included on the Bank’s income statement. Before 2000, the REFCORP assessment was a

charge to capital and did not appear on the income statement. These pro forma results show the Bank’s operating results

after subtracting the REFCORP assessments for 1996 to 1999 and provide a more meaningful comparison of the Bank’s

financial performance.



At the heart of every healthy, prosperous community you

will find local financial institutions that are willing and

able to finance the many credit needs of that community,

including the construction and purchase of homes, 

apartment buildings, and commercial space; the expansion

of existing businesses and the start-up of new ones; and

loans for education and other special purposes. The 

members of the Federal Home Loan Bank of San Francisco

are at the heart of their communities, meeting a wide

range of credit needs every day throughout Arizona,

California, Nevada, and the other states where they do

business. In 2000, the Bank played an important role in

supporting the lending and community investment 

activities of its members, which led to new records for 

the Bank in total advances, assets, membership, and AHP

grants. To expand its ability to serve its members, the

Bank also introduced two new community investment 

programs and enhanced its collateral policies. At the 

same time, the Bank tackled the many challenges and

opportunities presented by the Federal Home Loan 

Bank System Modernization Act of 1999, Title VI of 

the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act.

Once again, the Bank’s primary credit business played 

an essential part in fostering the economic vitality of the

communities served by its members. Advances to members

grew $19.5 billion during the year, an increase of 22%

relative to 1999. As in prior years, the Bank’s largest 

members accounted for most of the growth in member

credit in 2000. In all, 218 of the Bank’s 292 members

had advances outstanding during 2000, and 103

increased their Bank borrowings between yearend 1999

and yearend 2000.

Total assets grew to an all-time high of $140.2 billion as

of December 31, 2000, increasing $24.3 billion, or 21%,

relative to yearend 1999. This increase reflected the

growth in advances and an increase of $5.1 billion in 

held-to-maturity securities, as the Bank took advantage 

of favorable MBS investment opportunities to improve

earnings and support its overall growth.

Attracted by the flexible credit options the Bank offers, 

47 financial institutions joined the Bank during the year,

increasing total membership to a record 292 institutions.

The new members included 35 commercial banks, 9 

credit unions, 2 savings institutions, and 1 thrift and 

loan company.

To Our Members

1



F E D E R A L  H O M E  L O A N  B A N K  O F  S A N  F R A N C I S C O 2 0 0 0  A N N U A L  R E P O RT

Through its members, the Bank awarded $32.2 million 

in Affordable Housing Program subsidies to 117 projects 

in 2000. These housing initiatives will provide affordable

rental and homeownership opportunities to over 5,700

families and individuals in Arizona, California, Nevada,

and three other states served by Bank members. Since

1990, the Bank has awarded $198 million in AHP 

subsidies, helping nearly 42,000 families and individuals

find an affordable place to live.

At the outset of the year, the Bank held the inaugural

round of its new homeownership set-aside program, the

Individual Development and Empowerment Account

(IDEA), which uses AHP funds to provide matching grants

of up to $10,000 to low-income households saving to buy

a home. Members responded enthusiastically, and the

demand for IDEA funds far exceeded the $500,000 

originally set aside for the program. As a result, the Bank

increased the amount available and awarded a total of

$2.4 million to 24 programs.

To provide members with another funding resource for

their community economic development lending, in the

spring of 2000 the Bank launched a new credit program

targeted to projects that support the creation and 

retention of jobs or provide services or other benefits to

low- and moderate-income people and communities. The

Advances for Community Enterprise program provides 

discounted pricing on advances that members use to

finance commercial, industrial, and manufacturing 

activities; social service, community, and public facility

projects; and public or private infrastructure projects.

The Bank made several changes to its collateral policies in

2000 to give members greater access to Bank credit. As

authorized by the Modernization Act, the Bank lifted the

30%-of-GAAP-capital limitation on commercial first mort-

gages, residential second mortgages, home equity lines of

credit, and participation mortgages. The Bank 

also increased the maximum amount many members can

borrow against their residential and multifamily first 

mortgages after conducting a comprehensive review of its

collateral margins. In addition, the Bank began accepting

two new collateral types in response to member interest—

loans guaranteed by the Bureau of Indian Affairs and

shares of certain mutual funds. In 2001, the Bank plans

to begin accepting small business and agricultural loans

as collateral from many of its members, as authorized by 

the Modernization Act.
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The Modernization Act also established a framework for 

the implementation of a new capital structure for the

Federal Home Loan Banks. To ensure the preservation of

the Bank’s unique relationship with its members as share-

holders and customers, the Bank devoted considerable

resources in 2000 to developing and communicating its

views on the most critical attributes of an effective capital

structure. Throughout the year, the Bank analyzed the key

issues, communicated those issues to its members, and

worked with the Federal Housing Finance Board and the

other Federal Home Loan Banks to reach consensus. We

are very pleased that the final capital rule, published in

January 2001, incorporates the concepts we believe are

essential for a workable capital plan. The Bank’s goal this

year is to work with its Board of Directors and members to

finalize its capital plan and submit it to the Finance 

Board for approval by October 29, 2001, the deadline

established in the rule. 

The Bank paid an annual dividend of 7.17% for 2000,

compared to 5.36% for 1999. The 2000 dividend was

boosted, in part, by the payout of a portion of the Bank’s

retained earnings in the first two quarters of the year. If

the Bank had not paid out these retained earnings, the

Bank’s dividend for 2000 would have been 6.54%, 118

basis points higher than the 1999 dividend.

The Bank’s accomplishments in 2000 would not have

been possible without the leadership of the Board of

Directors, the insights of the Affordable Housing Advisory

Council, and the commitment of Bank staff. We thank all

of them for their tremendous contributions to the Bank’s

success. In particular, we would like to acknowledge 

Dirk S. Adams, who left the board during the year, and to 

welcome Herbert M. Sandler back to the board. We would

also like to extend our thanks to Sylvia Martinez, Anthony

Scott, and Susan Wong for their service on the Affordable

Housing Advisory Council, and welcome three new 

members to the Council: David Ferguson, Linda Mandolini,

and Susan Reynolds. 

In closing, we would like to thank you, our members, for

using our products and services to help you meet the cred-

it needs of your communities. Through your lending

efforts, you give families and individuals the opportunity

to achieve their dreams, and you create safer, more 

prosperous, stronger communities.
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FL E X I B I L I T Y

Local financial institutions are vital to communities, providing the credit needed

to build and buy homes, to start new businesses, to create and retain jobs. 

Many community bankers rely on the Federal Home Loan Bank of San Francisco

as an essential funding source, one that gives them greater flexibility in 

managing their liquidity, controlling their costs, reducing their interest rate risk, 

developing loan products for their customers, and making credit more accessible

and affordable to their communities. The Bank has a special relationship with 

its members, because these lenders are not only the Bank’s customers, but its 

owners as well. It is only with and through its members that the Bank can fulfill

its public policy purpose of enhancing the availability of residential mortgages

and targeted community development credit.
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C U S TO M E R S  
=

O W N E R S
R E S P O N S I V E

“Our original motivation for becoming a member of the

Bank was the Y2K line of credit,” says James Miller, Chief

Financial Officer at Provident Central Credit Union in

Redwood City, California. “Since then, we’ve been

extremely successful at growing our loans, but we ran into

a challenge with our balance sheet as our loan-to-deposit

ratio reached 100%. We didn’t want to sell our loans or

stop making loans to our members, so we opted for using

the Bank instead. In 2000, we were able to increase our

loan portfolio 27%. It has been a huge advantage to be

able to borrow from the Bank, to know we can borrow

when we need to. The Bank has become our insurance

policy for liquidity management.” 

One key determinant of how much a member can borrow 

is the amount of eligible collateral it can pledge. In 2000,

the Bank was able to lift the 30%-of-GAAP-capital limita-

tion on commercial first mortgages, residential second

mortgages, home equity lines of credit, and mortgage 

participations. This change was enacted as part of the

overall modernization of the Federal Home Loan Bank

System through legislation passed late in 1999.

“We are thrilled with the Bank’s commercial pledge pro-

gram,” says Scott Cornelius, President and Chief Executive

Officer at Johnson Bank Arizona in Phoenix. “The ability to

pledge so much more of our collateral is a tremendous

benefit.” Johnson Bank uses advances when it experiences
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In 2000, the Bank lifted the 30%-of-GAAP-capital limitation on certain types of mortgage 
collateral, increased the maximum amount many members can borrow against their collateral, and

began accepting loans guaranteed by the Bureau of Indian Affairs and shares of certain mutual
funds as collateral.

“It has been a huge advantage to be able to borrow from the Bank, 
to know we can borrow when we need to. The Bank has become our

insurance policy for liquidity management.” PROVIDENT CENTRAL 

CREDIT UNION

JAMES MILLER

CFO



A F F O R D A B L E
C R E D I T

a spurt in lending activity, to provide gap funding until

deposit growth catches up to loan growth. “The Bank gives

us instant access to liquidity, which has allowed us to

redesign the way we do business,” says Mr. Cornelius. “We

can take on larger loans because of the backstop the Bank

provides.”

Palm Desert National Bank was the member that motivated

the Bank to begin accepting loans guaranteed by the

Bureau of Indian Affairs as collateral. “It took us a year to

become approved as a BIA lender and learn the ins and

outs of the program,” says Kevin McGuire, Chief Executive

Officer at Palm Desert. When Mr. McGuire first inquired,

the Bank wasn’t accepting BIA-guaranteed loans as 

collateral. “But my Relationship Manager took the initiative

to get the rules changed,” he says. Palm Desert makes

loans to Native American tribes and individuals, and these

loans have become a large part of its portfolio. “We have

become the largest BIA lender in the country, and the Bank

is our only source of liquidity for these loans,” says Mr.

McGuire. “We are very pleased with the Bank’s willingness

to change to meet our needs. It is our ability to pledge 

BIA-guaranteed loans that is enabling us to make more 

of these loans.”
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“We are thrilled with the Bank’s commercial pledge program. The 
ability to pledge so much more of our collateral is a 

tremendous benefit.”

SCOTT CORNELIUS

PRESIDENT & CEO

JOHNSON BANK ARIZONA

“We are very pleased with the Bank’s willingness to change 
to meet our needs. Our ability to pledge BIA-guaranteed loans

is enabling us to make more of these loans.” PALM DESERT 

NATIONAL BANK

KEVIN MCGUIRE

CEO



Darnel Conley, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 

at La Jolla Bank, FSB, also appreciated the Bank’s 

responsiveness in 2000. La Jolla had reached its limit on

Community Investment Program advances in the fall of

2000, but wanted to borrow more. Prompted in part by La

Jolla’s request, the Bank significantly increased the CIP

limits for all members in November 2000. “Over 50% of

our loan portfolio is for multifamily lending, and we do a

fair amount of affordable housing, so we were very pleased

when the Bank increased the CIP limits,” says Ms. Conley.

“Bank staff acted so quickly. It’s great to work with them.”

Oak Valley Community Bank in Oakdale, California, was one

of the first members to take advantage of the Bank’s new

credit program, Advances for Community Enterprise (ACE).

Introduced in May 2000, ACE offers discounted advances

to promote community economic development and job 

creation and retention. Oak Valley’s ACE advances are

being used to fund the construction and permanent 

financing of a multiplex movie theater that will create 47

jobs in the small, rural town of Sonora. “We make loans

that other banks wouldn’t make,” says Victor Berbano, Vice

President at Oak Valley. “Many of our borrowers, such as

the smaller farmers, would have difficulty getting loans

without us. Using the Bank means we don’t have to say

‘no’ to our customers.” 

Members also responded enthusiastically to the Bank’s 

new homeownership set-aside program, the Individual

Development and Empowerment Account (IDEA), which

C R E AT I N G  
J O B S

O P P O R T U N I T Y
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In 2000, the Bank launched the Individual Development and Empowerment Account and
Advances for Community Enterprise programs and significantly increased the amount

members can borrow under CIP and ACE. 

“We were very pleased when the Bank increased the CIP limits.
Bank staff acted so quickly. It’s great to work with them.”

LA JOLLA BANK,  FSB

DARNEL CONLEY

VP & CFO



uses Affordable Housing Program funds to provide match-

ing grants to eligible homebuyers. The Bank awarded $2.4

million to 24 programs, including two submitted by

Hawthorne Savings, FSB, of El Segundo, California. “We’re

a community bank, and we take our CRA responsibilities

very seriously,” says Dave Hardin, Executive Vice President,

Hawthorne Savings. “The IDEA program is an innovative

tool that has already allowed us to provide some very

deserving people with the opportunity to buy a home. On

the business side, we use the Bank for liquidity, and we

appreciate the Bank’s ability to accept a wide range of col-

lateral, but it’s important to recognize the human, personal

side of each loan we make. The Bank may lend to us in

$40 million chunks, but we lend it out $150,000 at a

time, and each loan we make has a huge impact on a 

family, one that may extend for generations.” 

Hawthorne Savings won a $1.2 million Bank Enterprise

Award from the U.S. Treasury Department in 2000 for its

community lending efforts. At the awards ceremony,

Hawthorne was one of four lenders recognized. “We credit

the Home Loan Bank with that special attention, because

we were recognized not just for what we did, but for the

way we did it—by partnering with community organizations

using the Bank’s IDEA program,” says Mr. Hardin.

“Empowering organizations to act as true community

banks—that’s what the Federal Home Loan Bank of San

Francisco does.”

H E A LT H Y  
C O M M U N I T I E S
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“Empowering organizations to act as true community banks—that’s
what the Federal Home Loan Bank of San Francisco does.”

HAWTHORNE SAVINGS,  FSB

DAVE HARDIN 

EVP

“We make loans that other banks wouldn’t make. . . . Using the Bank
means we don’t have to say ‘no’ to our customers.”

OAK VALLEY 

COMMUNITY BANK

VICTOR BERBANO

EVP
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Statements contained in this report, including statements

describing the objectives, projections, estimates, or predictions

of the future of the Bank, may be “forward-looking statements.”

These statements may use forward-looking terms, such as “antici-

pates,” “believes,” “could,” “estimates,” “may,” “should,” “will,” or

their negative or other variations on these terms. The Bank cautions

that, by their nature, forward-looking statements involve risk or

uncertainty and that actual results could differ materially from

those expressed or implied in these forward-looking statements

or could affect the extent to which a particular objective, projection,

estimate, or prediction is realized. These forward-looking state-

ments involve risks and uncertainties including, but not limited to,

the following: economic and market conditions; volatility of

market prices, rates, and indices; political, legislative, regulatory,

or judicial events; a new capital structure; competitive forces;

changes in investor demand for consolidated obligations and/or

the terms of interest rate exchange agreements and similar

agreements; timing and volume of market activity; and inflation.

THE YEAR IN REVIEW

The Bank’s advances and total assets grew to record levels 

of $110.0 billion and $140.2 billion, respectively, as of

December 31, 2000. Advances increased $19.5 billion, or 22%,

and total assets increased $24.3 billion, or 21%. Contributing

to the growth in total assets, the Bank’s held-to-maturity

securities increased $5.1 billion, or 50%, as the Bank took

advantage of favorable MBS investment opportunities to

improve earnings and support its overall growth.

Net interest income increased by $167.6 million, or 43%, to

$554.6 million, primarily as a result of the significant growth

in advances, held-to-maturity securities, and member capital,

combined with higher average interest rates and spreads. Net

income increased by $44.0 million to $376.6 million for the

year. This increase was significantly less than the increase in net

interest income primarily because the REFCORP assessment is
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now classified as an expense. Before 2000, the REFCORP assess-

ment was a charge to capital. In addition, net income for 1999

included one-time gains of $10.5 million from the reversion of

surplus assets from the spin-off/termination involving the Bank’s

cash balance plan and $3.6 million from the sale of the Bank’s

office building in San Francisco. The Bank paid an annual

dividend of 7.17% for 2000, compared to 5.36% in 1999.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Net Interest Income. Net interest income rose $167.6 mil-

lion, or 43%, to $554.6 million in 2000. Average interest-

earning assets increased $31.7 billion, while the net interest

margin increased by 3 basis points, to 44 basis points in 2000

from 41 basis points in 1999. The increase in net interest

income was primarily due to the significant growth in advances,

investments, and capital, combined with higher interest rates

earned on invested capital and higher advance profit spreads.

The average yield on interest-earning assets in 2000 was

6.44%, compared to 5.35% in 1999, an increase of 109 basis

points. The average cost of interest-bearing liabilities increased

111 basis points, to 6.34% in 2000 from 5.23% in 1999.

Other Income. Other income consists primarily of prepayment

fees collected from members and fees earned on letters of

credit. Also included is the amortization of the deferred gain

resulting from the 1999 sale of the Bank’s office building in

San Francisco, which totaled $2.1 million and $1.0 million

during 2000 and 1999, respectively. The remaining unamor-

tized amount of the deferred gain on the sale of the building at

December 31, 2000, was $17.4 million. In 1999, other income

also included lease income net of related expenses from the

Bank’s office building of $1.0 million (before the sale) and

recognized one-time gains of $3.6 million from the building

sale and $10.5 million from the reversion of surplus assets

from the spin-off/termination involving the Bank’s cash balance

plan. Prepayment fees decreased $1.7 million to $0.4 million

in 2000 from $2.1 million in 1999. Members prepaid $0.9

billion of advances in 2000, compared to $0.5 billion in 1999.

These factors led to a $14.7 million decrease in other income

to $5.3 million in 2000 from $20.0 million in 1999.
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Other Expense. Other expense increased to $48.7 million in

2000 from $44.1 million in 1999, primarily as a result of a

$4.0 million increase in operating expenses. While operating

expenses increased 10% in 2000, average assets increased

34%, leading to a decline in the Bank’s ratio of operating

expenses to average assets from 4.0 basis points in 1999 to

3.3 basis points in 2000. 

REFCORP and AHP Assessments. Effective January 1, 2000,

the System’s annual REFCORP obligation was modified by the

Federal Home Loan Bank System Modernization Act of 1999

(Modernization Act) from a fixed annual assessment of $300

million for the System as a whole to 20% of each FHLBank’s

net earnings (after AHP assessments). With the new assess-

ment, the amount of the Bank’s REFCORP payments will rise

and fall with its earnings. To the extent that the System’s annual

REFCORP payments are higher or lower than $300 million, the

term of the REFCORP obligation will be shortened or length-

ened so that the value of all payments made by the System is

equivalent to a $300 million annual annuity with a final matu-

rity date of April 15, 2030. The FHLBanks’ payments during

2000 shortened the term of the REFCORP obligation to the

first quarter of 2026.

Through 1999, the 12 FHLBanks combined were required to

pay $300 million per year through 2030 to fund part of the

interest on REFCORP debt. These REFCORP payments were

recorded as distributions of capital. Initially, each FHLBank

was assessed an equal percentage, up to 20%, of its annual net

income. If the 20% assessment was insufficient to pay the full

$300 million, the “shortfall” was allocated among the

FHLBanks according to each FHLBank’s share of total System

advances during the previous year to members of the Savings

Association Insurance Fund. The Bank’s REFCORP assessment

in 2000 totaled $94.1 million, 20.0% of the Bank’s net

income after AHP contributions, compared to an assessment of

$47.7 million in 1999, or 14.3% of the Bank’s net income.

High earnings for the System as a whole in 1999 enabled the

FHLBanks to meet the $300 million annual assessment with-

out a shortfall allocation.

Annually, the FHLBanks must set aside for their AHPs, in the

aggregate, the greater of $100 million or 10% of each year’s

income before charges for the AHP but after the assessment for

REFCORP. To the extent that the aggregate 10% calculation is

less than $100 million, the shortfall is allocated among the

FHLBanks based on the ratio of each FHLBank’s income before

AHP and REFCORP to the sum of the net incomes before AHP

and REFCORP of the 12 FHLBanks. There was no shortfall in

2000 or 1999. The Bank set aside a record $41.9 million for

the AHP in 2000, compared to $31.7 million in 1999, reflect-

ing the higher earnings in 2000.

The Bank’s total REFCORP and AHP assessments equaled

$136.0 million in 2000, compared with $79.4 million in 1999,

resulting in an effective “tax” rate on preassessment income of

27%, compared to 22% in the prior year.

Net Income. Net income increased $44.0 million, or 13%, to

$376.6 million in 2000 from $332.6 million in 1999. Return

on equity (ROE) decreased 50 basis points, to 6.37% in 2000

from 6.87% in 1999, primarily because of the effect of the

change in the reporting of the REFCORP assessment, partially

offset by an increase in average interest rates. After subtracting

the REFCORP assessment for 1999, net income for 1999 was

$284.9 million, resulting in a year-over-year increase of $91.7

million, or 32%, and the ROE for 1999 was 5.88%.

Adjusted Financial Performance. The Bank also calculates

adjusted financial performance measures to provide a more

meaningful comparison of the Bank’s financial results over

time. These measures reflect earnings before advance prepay-

ment fees, extraordinary gains and losses associated with the

early retirement of debt, and other nonrecurring gains and losses

related to financial instruments, net of the current amortization

of prior period prepayment fees, gains and losses on debt retire-

ment, and other nonrecurring transactions. These adjustments

are made in order to recognize prepayment fees, debt retire-

ment gains and losses, and other nonrecurring transactions

over the periods remaining through the related instruments’

original maturity dates. 

Adjusted net interest income rose to $560.5 million in 2000

from $394.0 million in 1999, a 42% increase. Adjusted net

income increased 13%, to $381.4 million in 2000, from $337.1

million in 1999. Adjusted ROE decreased by 50 basis points,

to 6.46% in 2000 from 6.96% in 1999, primarily because of

the effect of the change in the reporting of the REFCORP

assessment, partially offset by the increase in average interest

rates. After subtracting the REFCORP assessment for 1999,

F E D E R A L  H O M E  L O A N  B A N K  O F  S A N  F R A N C I S C O 2 0 0 0  A N N U A L  R E P O RT

NET INCOME AFTER REFCORP

NET INTEREST INCOME

400

300

200

100

0

‘97 ‘98 ‘99 ‘00

NET INTEREST INCOME &

NET INCOME AFTER REFCORP

500

600

‘96

(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)



12

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

adjusted net income for 1999 was $289.4 million, resulting in

a year-over-year increase of $92.0 million, or 32%, and the

adjusted ROE for 1999 was 5.98%.

Dividends. In 2000, the Bank paid $416.3 million in divi-

dends, an average annual rate of 7.17%. In 1999, dividends

totaled $254.5 million, an average annual rate of 5.36%. 

All dividends except fractional shares were paid in the form of

capital stock. 

To provide financial flexibility and in anticipation of the possi-

ble effect of implementing SFAS No. 133 (see “Recently Issued

Accounting Standard” on page 15), the Board of Directors 

authorized the transfer of certain amounts from unrestricted

retained earnings to restricted retained earnings in 1999.

During 1999, the Bank also transferred, net of applicable

assessments, the one-time gain of $8.1 million from the spin-

off/termination involving the Bank’s cash balance plan and

recognized gains totaling $3.5 million from the sale of the

Bank’s office building to restricted retained earnings.

Retained earnings restricted by the Bank’s Board of

Directors totaled $27.9 million at December 31, 1999. In

addition to the retained earnings restricted by the Board of

Directors, earnings of $22.3 million in 1999 were also

retained in unrestricted retained earnings.

During the first quarter of 2000, the Bank’s Board of Directors

authorized the payout of the Bank’s unrestricted retained earn-

ings as of December 31, 1999, which equaled $25.4 million,

adding 0.44% to the annual dividend yield. During the second

quarter of 2000, in anticipation of SFAS No. 133, the Bank’s

Board of Directors decided to maintain approximately $17.1

million in restricted retained earnings to offset the effect on

capital of recognizing in other comprehensive income, a com-

ponent of capital, the remaining unamortized balance of the

deferred losses from certain interest rate exchange agreements

previously terminated by the Bank. The Bank’s Board of Directors

then authorized the payout of $11.5 million from previously

restricted retained earnings, adding 0.19% to the annual divi-

dend yield. At the time, the Bank’s Board of Directors paid out

these retained earnings because it was unclear how existing

retained earnings would be treated under future capital regula-

tions. If the Bank had not paid out these retained earnings the

Bank’s dividend would have been 6.54%, 118 basis points

greater than the previous year.

On June 22, 2000, the Finance Board rescinded its dividend

policy applicable to the FHLBanks. This rescission effectively

eliminated the requirement that the FHLBanks restrict retained

earnings for that portion of income from prepayment fees that,

if allocated on a pro-rata basis over the maturity of the advances

prepaid, would be allocated to future dividend periods. Other

gains and losses related to the termination of interest rate

exchange agreements and early retirement of consolidated obli-

gations were similarly treated. The Bank’s Board of Directors

adopted a policy to continue the practice of restricting retained

earnings generally consistent with the Finance Board’s rescind-

ed dividend policy. These restricted retained earnings will be

transferred to unrestricted retained earnings on a pro-rata basis

over the original terms of the prepaid advances, interest rate

exchange agreements, or consolidated obligations. Retained

earnings restricted in accordance with these policies totaled

$7.1 million and $10.7 million at December 31, 2000 and

1999, respectively.

FINANCIAL CONDITION

Total assets grew 21% during the year, to $140.2 billion at

December 31, 2000, from $115.9 billion at December 31, 1999,

and average total assets rose 34% in 2000, to $128.4 billion

from $95.9 billion in 1999.
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Advances. Advances outstanding increased 22% in 2000, from

$90.5 billion at December 31 1999, to $110.0 billion at

December 31, 2000, a new record high for the Bank. This

growth, which continued a trend that began in 1996, caused

average advances to increase 34% compared to the prior year,

to $100.0 billion in 2000 from $74.7 billion in 1999. Strong

member asset growth combined with the Bank’s competitive

pricing strategies caused members to increase their Bank bor-

rowings, primarily with long-term adjustable rate and fixed rate

advances. The Bank’s largest members accounted for most of

the increase during the year; in all, 103 members increased

their advance borrowings from yearend 1999 to yearend 2000.

Investments. The Bank invests in both short- and long-term

instruments to maintain liquidity and provide additional earn-

ings. The short-term investment portfolio is primarily composed

of Federal funds sold, resale agreements, negotiable certifi-

cates of deposits, and commercial paper. In determining the

amount of assets to invest in each class of securities, the Bank

considers the yield, liquidity, and credit quality of each instru-

ment. The long-term investment portfolio, which is composed

of mortgage-backed securities (MBS), and to a small degree,

other housing related investments, provides the Bank with

higher returns than those available in the short-term money

markets. These long-term investments generally have more

interest rate risk than the short-term investments; however, the

majority of these investments are either funded by long-term

debt or hedged with interest rate exchange agreements that

reduce the interest rate risk. Many of the fixed and adjustable

rate MBS in which the Bank invests are guaranteed by Fannie

Mae, Freddie Mac, or Ginnie Mae and are collateralized by resi-

dential mortgages. The Bank also invests in publicly-registered

AAA-rated non-agency MBS that are also collateralized by resi-

dential mortgages. These MBS are subject to prepayment risk,

and the adjustable rate MBS are subject to interest rate cap

risk. The Bank has managed these risks by (i) funding the fixed

rate MBS with non-callable and callable debt, and (ii) purchasing
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Average Balance Sheets 2000 1999

Interest Interest

Average Income/ Average Average Income/ Average

(Dollars in mill ions) Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate

ASSETS

Interest-earning assets: 
Interest-bearing deposits in banks $ 2,007.0 $ 131.1 6.53% $ 1,306.2 $ 68.5 5.24%
Resale agreements 1,523.9 93.9 6.16 2,091.2 110.9 5.31
Federal funds sold 8,564.7 549.1 6.41 6,813.9 354.5 5.20
Held-to-maturity securities* 13,710.6 898.0 6.55 9,128.3 524.8 5.75
Advances* 99,959.9 6,431.3 6.43 74,689.3 3,970.1 5.32
Loans to other FHLBanks 10.1 0.7 6.91 8.2 0.4 4.87

Total interest-earning assets 125,776.2 8,104.1 6.44 94,037.1 5,029.2 5.35
Other assets 2,582.9 — 1,878.3 —

Total Assets $128,359.1 $8,104.1 6.31% $ 95,915.4 $5,029.2 5.24%

LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL 

Interest-bearing liabilities: 
Consolidated obligations:

Bonds* $ 86,908.7 $5,527.1 6.36% $ 76,170.9 $3,962.1 5.20%
Discount notes* 31,739.5 1,996.8 6.29 12,253.8 666.1 5.44

Deposits 221.5 13.5 6.10 237.2 11.5 4.87
Borrowings 202.7 12.1 5.92 48.0 2.5 5.14

Total interest-bearing liabilities 119,072.4 7,549.5 6.34 88,709.9 4,642.2 5.23
Other liabilities 3,379.1 — 2,364.4 —

Total Liabilities 122,451.5 7,549.5 6.17 91,074.3 4,642.2 5.10
Total Capital 5,907.6 — 4,841.1 —

Total Liabilities and Capital $128,359.1 $7,549.5 5.88% $ 95,915.4 $4,642.2 4.84%

Net Interest Income $ 554.6 $ 387.0

Net Interest Margin** 0.44% 0.41%

Total Average Assets/Capital Ratio 21.7x 19.8x

*  Interest income/expense and average rates include the effect of associated interest rate exchange agreements.

**  Net interest margin is net interest income divided by average interest-earning assets.
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certain adjustable rate MBS that are structured with interest

rate exchange agreements, which create a synthetic, floating

rate asset with a lifetime interest rate cap but without periodic

interest rate caps. This structure provides the Bank with a

stable income stream over a range of interest rates. 

During 1998, the Bank adopted a plan to expand its investment

portfolio to enhance earnings and provide greater financial

flexibility. The MBS investment limit was increased from 200%

of capital to 300% of capital. The Bank’s MBS portfolio

increased 53% in 2000, to $10.8 billion, or approximately

161% of capital, at December 31, 2000, from $7.0 billion, or

approximately 130% of capital, at December 31, 1999. The

increase in the Bank’s capital and the lack of available MBS

investments that met the Bank’s risk and return profiles resulted

in balances below the targeted level.

Relative to yearend 1999, the Bank’s total non-MBS investment

portfolio remained unchanged at $16.2 billion as of December

31, 2000. Interest-bearing deposits in banks increased $1.0 bil-

lion, commercial paper increased $1.2 billion, housing finance

agency bonds increased $0.2 billion, while securities purchased

under agreements to resell decreased $2.1 billion and Federal

funds sold decreased $0.3 billion.

Borrowings. The Bank funds its assets through the use of

FHLBank consolidated obligation bonds and discount notes,

which are the joint and several obligations of the 12 FHLBanks.

These instruments financed 92% of average total assets in

2000 and 1999. Consolidated obligation bonds are long-term,

while discount notes are short-term instruments. The Bank

uses interest rate exchange agreements to change the effective

interest rate terms on many of its consolidated obligation bonds

and discount notes.

To fund the Bank’s asset growth, total consolidated obligations

outstanding increased 21% in 2000, to $129.5 billion at

December 31, 2000, from $107.4 billion at December 31,

1999. Average consolidated obligations in 2000 were $118.6

billion, 34% above the $88.4 billion average in 1999.

To meet the specific needs of certain investors, fixed and

adjustable rate consolidated obligation bonds may contain

embedded call options or other features that result in complex

coupon payment terms. When such consolidated obligations are

issued, the Bank simultaneously enters into interest rate

exchange agreements with features that offset the complex

features of the bonds and, in effect, convert the bonds to

conventional adjustable rate instruments tied to an index, such

as LIBOR. During 2000 and 1999, the Bank used fixed rate

callable bonds that were usually offset with interest rate

exchange agreements with a call feature mirroring the option

embedded in the callable bond. This combined structure

enables the Bank to meet its funding needs at costs not generally

attainable solely through the issuance of non-callable debt.

Capital and Capital Ratios. Each member is required to pur-

chase Bank stock based on the amount of its residential mortgage

loans or its outstanding Bank advances. Average capital during

2000 was $5.9 billion, a 22% increase from $4.8 billion in

1999. This increase was due to capital stock purchases by new

members and additional capital stock purchases by existing

members to support additional borrowings during the year. This

increase was net of redemptions of capital stock totaling $0.5

billion, which primarily resulted from the Bank’s mandatory

surplus capital stock redemption policy, which went into effect

in April 1999. Surplus capital is defined as any excess stock

holdings above 115% of a member’s statutory capital stock

requirement, excluding stock dividends earned and credited

for the current year. In accordance with this policy, the Bank

redeemed $372.2 million and $413.4 million in surplus capital

stock during 2000 and 1999, respectively. 

The Finance Board’s regulations effective through June 30,

2000, prohibited the issuance of consolidated obligations and

other unsecured senior liabilities above 20 times the Bank

System’s total capital. The Finance Board’s Financial

Management Policy also applied this limit on an FHLBank-by-

FHLBank basis. This leverage limitation was temporarily

increased to 25 times an FHLBank’s total capital through June

30, 2000, provided certain conditions were met, in order to facil-

itate Year 2000-related lending. On June 2, 2000, the Finance

Board adopted a final rule amending the FHLBanks’ leverage

limit requirements. Effective July 1, 2000, each FHLBank’s

leverage limit is based on a ratio of assets to capital, rather

than a ratio of liabilities to capital. The final rule deletes the

Bank System-wide leverage limit from the regulations but lim-

its each FHLBank’s assets generally to no more than 21 times

capital. Nevertheless, an FHLBank whose non-mortgage

assets, after deducting deposits and capital, do not exceed 11

percent of its assets may have total assets in an amount no

greater than 25 times its capital. As of December 31, 2000,

the Bank’s total assets to capital and non-mortgage assets to

assets ratios were 22.3x and 8.93%, respectively.

Off-Balance Sheet Financial Instruments. In the ordinary

course of business, the Bank issues standby letters of credit

and enters into various types of transactions that involve interest

rate exchange agreements (interest rate swap, cap, and floor

agreements) with off-balance sheet risk. Letters of credit are

issued on behalf of members to support their obligations to

third parties. The Bank uses interest rate exchange agreements

for several purposes. One purpose is to manage its overall interest

rate risk profile by adjusting the interest rate sensitivity of its

interest-bearing liabilities to be consistent with the interest

rate sensitivity of its interest-earning assets. The Bank also

provides a variety of products to meet the specific needs of

borrowers. Because the financial characteristics of many of

these products may not be consistent with the Bank’s desired

interest rate risk profile, the Bank uses interest rate exchange
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agreements to modify the financial characteristics of its prod-

ucts to meet the Bank’s specific interest rate risk objectives.

These instruments are generally negotiated, with terms tailored

to meet the specific needs of the Bank and the customer. The

Bank may also act as an intermediary between members and

third parties for interest rate exchange agreement transactions.

The contractual amounts of letters of credit and notional amounts

of interest rate exchange agreements are not recorded as assets

or liabilities on the balance sheet. The fees earned by the Bank

in connection with letters of credit are recorded as other

income. Interest income and expense from interest rate

exchange agreements used for risk management purposes are

recorded with interest on the instrument being hedged. Interest

income and expense from interest rate exchange agreements in

which the Bank acts as an intermediary are recorded as other

income. In general, gains or losses realized on the termination

or redesignation of interest rate exchange agreements, where

the related underlying financial instrument remains outstanding,

are deferred and amortized over the shorter of the life of the

financial instrument that was originally hedged or the period

ending on the original maturity date of the interest rate

exchange agreement. In general, gains or losses realized on the

termination or redesignation of interest rate exchange agree-

ments where the related underlying financial instrument has

been terminated are included with the gain or loss on the ter-

mination of the underlying financial instrument.

As of December 31, 2000, the Bank had interest rate exchange

agreements, primarily interest rate swaps, totaling $156.9 billion

(notional amount). Of this amount, $109.2 billion hedged con-

solidated obligations, $45.9 billion hedged advances, $0.7 billion

hedged MBS, and $1.1 billion were for intermediated transactions.

As of December 31, 1999, the Bank had interest rate exchange

agreements, primarily interest rate swaps,  totaling $124.1 bil-

lion (notional amount). Of this amount, $90.4 billion hedged

consolidated obligations, $31.1 billion hedged advances, $0.8

billion hedged MBS, $1.4 billion were for intermediated trans-

actions, and $0.4 billion hedged held-to-maturity securities.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARD

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board

(FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging

Activities” (SFAS No. 133). In June 1999, the FASB issued

SFAS No. 137, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities – Deferral of the Effective Date of FASB

Statement No. 133,” which amended SFAS No. 133, deferring

its effective date. SFAS No. 133 is now effective for all fiscal

quarters of all fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2000

(January 1, 2001, for the Bank). SFAS No. 133 requires that

all derivative instruments be recorded on the balance sheet at

their fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivatives will be

recorded each period in current earnings or other comprehen-

sive income (a component of capital), depending on whether a

derivative is designated as part of a hedge transaction and, if it

is, the type of hedge transaction. Gains and losses on derivative

instruments that will be reported in other comprehensive income

will be reclassified as earnings in the periods in which earnings

are affected by the variability of the cash flows of the hedged

items. The gain or loss on the ineffective portion of all hedges

will be recognized in current-period earnings. In June 2000, the

FASB issued SFAS No. 138, “Accounting for Certain Derivative

Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities,” which addressed

a limited number of implementation issues arising from SFAS

No. 133.

In anticipation of SFAS No. 133, during 1999 and 1998, the

Bank terminated certain interest rate exchange agreements

that were hedging existing and anticipated future issuances of

discount notes. The Bank realized losses of $32.3 million and

$13.3 million during 1999 and 1998, respectively, on these

terminations. Under SFAS No. 133, the Bank would have been

required to mark these agreements to market on January 1, 2001,

and periodically thereafter. The amount of the resulting gains

and losses to be recorded in other comprehensive income

would have varied depending on interest rates. The Bank elim-

inated this accounting uncertainty by terminating the agree-

ments and replacing them, in part, with certain fixed rate

bonds, which will not have accounting volatility under SFAS

No. 133. Because the future issuance of discount notes

remains probable, the Bank is deferring these losses and amor-

tizing them into interest expense over the remaining terms of

the original interest rate swap agreements. The unamortized

amount of these losses at December 31, 2000, was $17.1 mil-

lion and is included in the carrying amount of discount notes.

Effective January 1, 2001, as a result of SFAS No. 133, the

Bank recognized in other comprehensive income the remaining

unamortized balance of these deferred losses, $17.1 million, as

part of the cumulative effect of adopting SFAS No. 133.

Previously, the Bank’s Board of Directors had retained $17.1

million in restricted retained earnings to offset the effect of

these deferred losses on capital. In addition, a loss of $2.5

million was charged to January 2001 earnings as part of the

cumulative effect of adopting SFAS No. 133, due to unrealized

gains of $7.1 million related to the transfer of held-to-maturity

securities to securities held at fair value and unrealized net

losses of $9.6 million from the remaining cumulative effect of

adjustments related to fair value hedges and transactions not

meeting the requirements for fair value or cashflow hedges under

SFAS No. 133. The ongoing impact of SFAS No. 133 on the

Bank cannot be predicted, and the Bank’s retained earnings in

the future may not be sufficient to offset the full impact of

SFAS No. 133. As a result, the effect of SFAS No. 133 may

lead to increased volatility in future earnings and dividends.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

Liquidity. The Bank is required to maintain liquidity in accor-

dance with certain regulations, with the Finance Board’s Financial

Management Policy, and with policies established by the Board

of Directors. The Bank needs liquidity to satisfy member

demand for short- and long-term funds and to repay maturing

obligations. In their asset/liability management planning, mem-

bers may look to the Bank to provide standby liquidity. The

Bank seeks to be in a position to meet its customers’ credit

and liquidity needs without maintaining excessive holdings

of low-yielding liquid investments or being forced to incur

unnecessarily high borrowing costs. The Bank’s primary sources

of liquidity are short-term investments and issuance of new

consolidated obligation bonds and discount notes. Other short-

term borrowings, such as Federal funds purchased, securities

sold under agreements to repurchase, and loans from other

FHLBanks, also provide liquidity.

Interest Rate Risk. Underlying the Bank’s financial perform-

ance is a multifaceted asset/liability management strategy. The

Bank monitors and evaluates the potential effects of interest

rate movements on earnings and the market value of equity.

Asset/liability strategies are adjusted to manage interest rate

risks within prescribed policy limits and guidelines. The Bank’s

financial policies and guidelines establish limits for net interest

income sensitivity to interest rate changes, basis relationship

changes, periodic and cumulative repricing gaps, the sensitivity

of the market value of equity to interest rate changes (duration of

equity), and liquidity. The Bank also complies with the duration

of equity limits and other limits set forth in the Finance Board’s

Financial Management Policy.

One measure of interest rate risk is the extent to which the

interest rates on the Bank’s assets and liabilities reprice at

different times. The following table shows the interest rate

sensitivity of assets and liabilities by repricing periods. The

periodic gaps shown in this table represent the net difference

between total asset and liability repricings, including the

impact of interest rate exchange agreements, for a specified

time period. For example, the periodic gap for the “6 months

or less” time period indicates that as of December 31, 2000,

there were $2.8 billion more assets than liabilities that would

reprice during the six-month period beginning on December 31,

2000. As shown in this table, the Bank’s repricing gaps, by

design, are concentrated in the “six months or less” and the

“one to five years” categories.
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Interest Rate Sensitivity
For the Year Ended December 31, 2000 Interest Rate Sensitivity Period

6 Months 6 Months
(In mill ions) or Less to 1 Year 1 to 5 Years Over 5 Years

ASSETS

Investments $ 21,836 $ 1,296 $ 2,856 $ 1,011
Advances 78,224 5,214 24,203 2,391
Other assets 3,141 — — 18

Total Assets $103,201 $ 6,510 $ 27,059 $ 3,420

LIABILITIES

Consolidated obligations $ 62,794 $ 15,630 $ 49,559 $ 1,481
Deposits 376 — — —
Other liabilities 3,888 — — 170

Total Liabilities $ 67,058 $ 15,630 $ 49,559 $ 1,651

Interest Rate Exchange Agreements (33,295) 9,537 25,314 (1,556)

Periodic Gap/Invested Capital $ 2,848 $ 417 $ 2,814 $ 213
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The following table shows the estimated percentage change in

the net value of all assets, liabilities, and off-balance sheet

items (market value of equity) that would result from a 100-

basis-point change in interest rates under different interest rate

scenarios. At December 31, 2000, the estimated percentage

change in the Bank’s market value of equity was 1.4%. If interest

rates rose 100 basis points, the Bank’s market value of equity

would be expected to decline approximately 1.4%, and if interest

rates fell 100 basis points, the Bank’s market value of equity

would be expected to increase approximately 1.4%. If interest

rates were 200 basis points higher at December 31, 2000, a

100-basis-point additional shift in interest rates would be

expected to either decrease or increase (depending on the

direction of the interest rate movement) the Bank’s market

value of equity by approximately 2.0%. If interest rates were

200 basis points lower at December 31, 2000, a 100-basis-

point additional shift in interest rates would be expected to

alter the Bank’s market value of equity by approximately 0.7%.

Market Value of Equity Sensitivity
As of December 31, 2000 Average Percentage Change

In the Market Value of Equity
Interest Rate Scenario Per 100-Basis-Point Change in Interest Rates

Actual rates at December 31, 2000 1.4%

Rates start 200 basis points higher 2.0%

Rates start 200 basis points lower 0.7%

Credit Risk. The Bank closely monitors the creditworthiness of

the institutions to which it lends funds. The Bank also places

great importance on the quality of both the assets that are

pledged as collateral by its customers and the securities pur-

chased under agreements to resell. The Bank emphasizes credit

monitoring and collateral asset review and valuation to manage

the credit risk associated with its lending activities. It also has

procedures to assess the mortgage underwriting and documen-

tation standards of its borrowing members. In addition, the Bank

has collateral policies and restricted lending procedures in place

to manage its exposure to those customers that experience diffi-

culty in meeting their capital requirements or other standards

of creditworthiness. The Bank has not experienced any losses

on credit extended to any member since its inception. Based

upon the collateral held as security and prior repayment history,

no allowance for losses is deemed necessary by management.

The Bank has adopted exposure limits for investments that

ensure diversification and liquidity. These policies restrict the

amounts and terms of the Bank’s investment holdings according

to the Bank’s own capital position as well as the capital and

creditworthiness of the counterparty. In addition, the Bank

has invested in AAA-rated non-agency MBS and MBS that are

guaranteed by government-sponsored enterprises (Fannie Mae,

Freddie Mac, and Ginnie Mae) and housing finance agency bonds,

generally AAA-rated mortgage revenue bonds (federally taxable),

all of which are collateralized by pools of residential mortgages.

The Bank has also adopted policies and exposure limits for off-

balance sheet credit exposure. Under these policies, the amount

of unsecured credit that may be extended to an individual

counterparty is the lower of (i) an amount commensurate with

the counterparty’s capital and its credit quality, as determined

by rating agency credit ratings of the counterparty’s debt securities

or deposits, or (ii) an absolute credit exposure limit. In addition,

the Bank has entered into bilateral security agreements with all

active non-member derivative counterparties that provide for

delivery of collateral at specified levels to limit credit exposure

from off-balance sheet items.

Concentration Risk. At December 31, 2000, the Bank had a

concentration of advances totaling $89.2 billion outstanding to

three members, representing 81% of total advances outstanding

(44%, 24%, and 13%, respectively). At December 31, 1999,

the Bank had a concentration of advances totaling $74.5 billion

outstanding to three members, representing 82% of total

advances outstanding (50%, 26%, and 6%, respectively). Of

the total capital stock outstanding at December 31, 2000,

three members held 48.3 million shares, representing 77% of

total capital stock outstanding (42%, 22%, and 13%, respectively).

At December 31, 1999, three members held 38.2 million shares,

representing 71% of total capital stock outstanding (43%,

22%, and 6%, respectively). The Bank manages concentration

risk by, among other things, closely monitoring the credit and

collateral quality and financial trends of the institutions to which

it lends funds, charging market-based prepayment fees on most

advances, and monitoring and managing the risks associated

with any potential departure of a large member and the resulting

capital redemption. 

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS 

Regulation. In 2000, the Finance Board issued several final

rules implementing or relating to the Federal Home Loan Bank

System Modernization Act of 1999, including:

Capital Requirements for Federal Home Loan Banks: In

December 2000, the Finance Board approved a final rule, effec-

tive March 1, 2001, to implement a new capital structure for the

FHLBanks. The rule establishes risk-based and leverage capital

requirements for the FHLBanks; addresses the different classes

of stock that an FHLBank may issue and the rights and prefer-

ences that may be associated with each class of stock; and

requires each FHLBank to submit a capital plan to the Finance

Board for approval by October 29, 2001. In the meantime, the

requirements for purchase and retention of FHLBank capital

stock in place prior to November 12, 1999, remain in effect.
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Advances, Eligible Collateral, New Business Activities and

Related Matters: This rule allows the FHLBanks to accept

small business loans, small farm loans, and small agri-business

loans as collateral from community financial institutions (CFIs)

and permits CFIs to use long-term advances to finance small

businesses, small farms, and small agri-businesses. The rule

also removes the 30%-of-GAAP-capital limit on the amount of

a member’s advances that may be secured by other real estate-

related collateral.

Acquired Member Assets, Core Mission Activities, Investments

and Advances: This rule authorizes FHLBanks to hold acquired

member assets and enumerates the types of core mission

assets that must be addressed in an FHLBank’s strategic busi-

ness plan. The rule also addresses the FHLBanks’ investment,

advances, and debt issuance authorities.

Office of Finance; Authority of FHLBanks to Issue Consolidated

Obligations: This rule reorganizes the Office of Finance; permits

the FHLBanks to issue consolidated obligations on which the

FHLBanks are jointly and severally liable; expands the Office of

Finance’s functions to include preparation of the FHLBanks’

combined financial reports; and replaces the existing FHLBank

liability-based leverage limit with a leverage limit based on a

ratio of assets to capital. 

Powers and Responsibilities: This rule sets forth the responsi-

bilities of the boards of directors and senior management of the

FHLBanks to ensure that they fulfill their duties to operate the

FHLBanks in a safe and sound manner and further the

FHLBanks’ housing finance and community lending missions.

The rule also requires that each FHLBank maintain a strategic

business plan (describing how the FHLBank’s business activities

will achieve the FHLBank’s mission), an internal control sys-

tem, and an audit committee.

New Business Activity. In 2000, the Bank made a strategic

decision to participate in the Federal Home Loan Bank

System’s Mortgage Partnership Finance® Program. In February

2001, the Finance Board authorized the Bank’s participation.

The Bank intends to begin offering the MPF® Program later this

year. (“Mortgage Partnership Finance” and “MPF” are regis-

tered trademarks of the Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago.)

COMPARISON OF 1999 TO 1998

Net income was $332.6 million in 1999, compared to $294.1

million in 1998. Net interest income increased to $387.0 million

in 1999 from $331.3 million in 1998 as a result of a 40%

increase in average interest-earning assets outstanding during

the year, partially offset by an 8-basis-point decrease in the net

interest margin. The decrease in the net interest margin was

primarily due to credit pricing policies established by the Bank

to compete with other providers of wholesale funds, which

decreased advance profit spreads, and lower earnings on invested

capital as a result of a lower interest rate environment in 1999

than in 1998. 

Other income was $20.0 million in 1999 and $30.4 million in

1998. The Bank collected $2.1 million in prepayment fees in

1999, compared to $24.7 million in 1998, as fewer advances

were prepaid. During 1999, the Bank recognized one-time

gains of $10.5 million from the spin-off/termination involving

the Bank’s cash balance plan and $3.6 million from the sale of

the Bank’s building.

Other expense increased to $75.8 million in 1999 from $67.7

million in 1998. The increase was primarily due to an increase

of $3.6 million in the Bank’s operating expenses and an increase

of $4.3 million in the statutory contribution to the AHP, which

was assessed on higher earnings in 1999. Operating expenses

as a percentage of average assets were 4.0 basis points in

1999 compared to 5.1 basis points in 1998.

The Bank’s total REFCORP and AHP assessments equaled

$79.4 million in 1999 and $75.9 million in 1998. These

amounts reflected effective “tax” rates on income of 22% and

24%, respectively. The Bank’s REFCORP assessment totaled

$47.7 million in 1999 and $48.5 million in 1998. Higher earn-

ings realized by the 12 FHLBanks combined in both 1999 and

1998 enabled the FHLBanks to meet the $300 million annual

assessment without a shortfall allocation. 

The Bank set aside $31.7 million for the AHP in 1999, com-

pared to $27.4 million in 1998. The increase reflected higher

earnings in 1999.

Adjusted net interest income increased 16%, to $394.0 million

in 1999 from $339.9 million in 1998. This increase was the

primary reason adjusted net income rose 20%, to $337.1 mil-

lion in 1999 from $279.9 million in 1998.

In 1999, the Bank paid a total of $254.5 million in dividends,

primarily stock dividends, an average annual rate of 5.36%.

This rate was 40 basis points lower than in 1998, when divi-

dends totaled $220.9 million and the average annual rate was

5.76%. All dividends except fractional shares were paid in the

form of capital stock.

F E D E R A L  H O M E  L O A N  B A N K  O F  S A N  F R A N C I S C O 2 0 0 0  A N N U A L  R E P O RT
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Management Report on Responsibility for Financial Reporting

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of the Federal Home Loan Bank of San

Francisco (the Bank) prepared the financial statements con-

tained in the Annual Report in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles. Management has primary respon-

sibility for the integrity and objectivity of the financial statements,

which include amounts that are based on management’s best esti-

mates and judgments. Other information in the Annual Report

is consistent with that contained in the financial statements.

The Bank’s financial statements have been audited by Price-

waterhouseCoopers LLP, independent accountants approved by

the Federal Housing Finance Board. Management has made

available to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP all the Bank’s finan-

cial records and related data, as well as the minutes of the

meetings of the Bank’s board of directors. The report of the

independent accountants expresses an opinion as to the fair-

ness of the financial position and results of operations of the

Bank based on their audit conducted in accordance with gen-

erally accepted auditing standards.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS 

In meeting its responsibility for the integrity and objectivity of

the financial statements, management of the Bank has estab-

lished and relies upon a system of internal controls designed to

provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability

of the financial statements, the protection of assets from unau-

thorized use or disposition, and the prevention and detection of

fraudulent financial reporting. The system of internal controls

provides for appropriate division of responsibility and is docu-

mented by written policies and procedures that are communi-

cated to employees with significant roles in the financial

reporting process. Management monitors the system of internal

controls for compliance, adequacy, and cost-effectiveness.

Management believes that as of December 31, 2000, the

Bank’s system of internal controls was adequate to accomplish

the objectives discussed herein.

The Bank maintains an internal auditing program and the

Federal Housing Finance Board performs an examination func-

tion that independently assess the effectiveness of the Bank’s

internal controls and recommend possible improvements there-

to. Corrective actions are taken to address control deficiencies

and other opportunities for improving the system as they are

identified. The Audit Committee of the board of directors is

composed of independent directors and oversees the Bank’s

financial reporting and system of internal controls. In addition to

meeting regularly with the Bank’s management, the Committee

met with the Bank’s Director of Internal Audit, Federal Housing

Finance Board examiners, and independent accountants, with-

out management present, to discuss the results of their audits,

their evaluations of the system of internal controls, and the

overall quality of the Bank’s financial reporting.

There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any sys-

tem of internal controls, including the possibility of human error

and the circumvention or overriding of controls. Accordingly,

even an effective internal control system can provide only

reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement

preparation. Furthermore, the effectiveness of an internal

control system can change with circumstances.

The Bank assesses its internal control system in relation to,

among other things, criteria for effective internal control over

financial reporting described in “Internal Control-Integrated

Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organi-

zations of the Treadway Commission. Based on its assessment,

the Bank believes that, as of December 31, 2000, its system

of internal controls over financial reporting met those criteria.

CODE OF CONDUCT

Management also recognizes its responsibility for fostering a

strong ethical climate so that the Bank’s affairs are conducted

according to the highest standards of personal and corporate

conduct. This responsibility is characterized and reflected in

the Bank’s code of corporate conduct, which is communicated

to employees.

Dean Schultz

President and Chief Executive Officer 

Steven T. Honda

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Vera Maytum

Senior Vice President and Controller

February 19, 2001
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Audit Committee Report

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the Federal

Home Loan Bank of San Francisco for 2001 is composed of

nine Directors, four of whom were appointed to the Board by

the Federal Housing Finance Board and five of whom were

elected to the Board by the members of the Bank.

The Audit Committee oversees the Bank’s financial reporting

process; reviews the programs and policies of the Bank designed

to ensure compliance with applicable laws, regulations, and

policies and monitors the results of these compliance efforts;

and advises and assists the Board in fufilling its oversight

responsibilities relating to risk management, internal controls,

the accounting policies and financial reporting and disclosure

practices of the Bank, and the audit and examination of the Bank.

The Audit Committee has adopted and is governed by a written

charter, which is presented on page 43. The Audit Committee

has reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements

with management. The Committee has discussed with the inde-

pendent auditor the matters required to be discussed by SAS

No. 61 and SAS No. 90, “Audit Committee Communications.”

The Committee has also received the written disclosures and

the letter from the independent auditor required by ISB

Standard No. 1 and has discussed the auditor’s independence

with the auditor.

Based on the review and discussions referred to above, the

Audit Committee recommends to the Board of Directors that

the financial statements be included in the Annual Report.

Craig G. Blunden, Chair

Roberta Achtenberg

Robert N. Barone

J. Lance Erikson

Robert F. Nielsen

Daniel R. Ortega

Herbert M. Sandler

Richard H. Terzian

Mary Lee Widener 

February 19, 2001
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Report of Independent Accountants

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders

of the Federal Home Loan Bank of San Francisco:

In our opinion, the accompanying statements of condition and

the related statements of income, capital and cash flows present

fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Federal

Home Loan Bank of San Francisco (the Bank) at December 31,

2000 and 1999, and the results of its operations and its cash

flows for each of the three years in the period ended December

31, 2000, in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America. These financial state-

ments are the responsibility of the Bank’s management; our

responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial state-

ments based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these

statements in accordance with auditing standards generally

accepted in the United States of America. Those standards

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statements are free of

material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test

basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used

and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating

the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that

our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As explained in Note 1, the Bank has changed its method of

accounting for REFCORP payments during the year ended

December 31, 2000. For the year ended December 31, 2000,

the REFCORP payment has been recorded as an expense in the

statement of income. During the years ended December 31,

1999 and 1998, REFCORP payments were recorded as deduc-

tions from capital. 

San Francisco, California

February 19, 2001
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Statements of Condition

December 31,

(In thousands-except par value) 2000 1999

ASSETS

Cash and due from banks $ 4,584 $ 1,424
Interest-bearing deposits in banks 2,698,000 1,702,000
Securities purchased under agreements to resell 400,000 2,558,885
Federal funds sold 8,376,000 8,636,000
Held-to-maturity securities 15,524,693 10,382,029
Advances 110,031,641 90,513,829
Accrued interest receivable 3,136,776 2,099,622
Premises and equipment, net 4,326 4,324
Other assets 13,988 13,934

Total Assets $140,190,008 $115,912,047

LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL

Liabilities:
Consolidated obligations, net:

Bonds $ 97,365,608 $ 76,725,689
Discount notes 32,097,431 30,676,746

Total consolidated obligations 129,463,039 107,402,435

Deposits:
Demand and overnight 347,613 303,143
Term 28,800 23,810

Total deposits 376,413 326,953

Accrued interest payable 3,888,254 2,606,541
Affordable Housing Program 109,630 90,892
Payable to REFCORP 25,315 11,184
Other liabilities 35,212 35,643

Total Liabilities 133,897,863 110,473,648

Commitments and Contingencies: Note 14

Capital:
Capital stock ($100 par value) issued and outstanding

62,679 shares in 2000 and 53,744 in 1999. 6,267,859 5,374,359
Retained earnings (subject to restrictions) 24,286 64,040

Total Capital 6,292,145 5,438,399

Total Liabilities and Capital $140,190,008 $115,912,047

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Income

For the Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2000 1999 1998

INTEREST INCOME:

Advances $ 6,431,349 $ 3,970,075 $ 2,987,482
Interest-bearing deposits in banks 131,077 68,466 11,436
Securities purchased under agreements to resell 93,891 110,954 67,864
Federal funds sold 549,093 354,522 258,426
Held-to-maturity securities 898,047 524,809 486,508
Loans to other Federal Home Loan Banks 662 400 551

Total Interest Income 8,104,119 5,029,226 3,812,267

INTEREST EXPENSE:

Consolidated obligations 7,523,902 4,628,253 3,465,076
Deposits 13,514 11,552 14,921
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 11,887 2,046 174
Borrowings from other Federal Home Loan Banks 82 72 22
Other borrowings 161 347 793

Total Interest Expense 7,549,546 4,642,270 3,480,986

NET INTEREST INCOME 554,573 386,956 331,281

OTHER INCOME:

Prepayment fees, net 392 2,099 24,726
Services to members 899 852 702
Gain on the spin-off/termination involving the Bank’s Cash Balance Plan — 10,507 —
Other, net 4,020 6,587 5,017

Total Other Income 5,311 20,045 30,445

OTHER EXPENSE:

Operating expense 42,818 38,832 35,244
Federal Housing Finance Board and Office of Finance expenses 5,833 5,311 5,064

Total Other Expense 48,651 44,143 40,308

INCOME BEFORE EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS AND ASSESSMENTS 511,233 362,858 321,418

REFCORP assessments 94,147 — —
Affordable Housing Program assessments 41,843 31,651 27,352

Total Assessments 135,990 31,651 27,352

INCOME BEFORE EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS 375,243 331,207 294,066

Extraordinary gains on early retirement of debt 1,346 1,346 —

NET INCOME $ 376,589 $ 332,553 $ 294,066

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Capital Accounts

Capital Stock Retained Earnings

(In thousands) Shares Par Value Restricted Unrestricted Total

Balance, December 31, 1997 35,359 $3,535,858 $ 3,053 $ 5,969 $ 9,022
Issuance of capital stock 7,806 780,594
Redemption of capital stock (1,357) (135,689)
Net income 294,066 294,066
Transfers to restricted retained earnings 27,601 (27,601) —
Dividends on capital stock (5.76%)

Cash payment (46) (46)
Stock issued 2,208 220,828 (220,828) (220,828)

Capital distribution to REFCORP (48,503) (48,503)

Balance, December 31, 1998 44,016 4,401,591 30,654 3,057 33,711
Issuance of capital stock 12,938 1,293,784
Redemption of capital stock (5,755) (575,494)
Net income 332,553 332,553
Transfers to restricted retained earnings 7,978 (7,978) —
Dividends on capital stock (5.36%)

Cash payment (52) (52)
Stock issued 2,545 254,478 (254,478) (254,478)

Capital distribution to REFCORP (47,694) (47,694)

Balance, December 31, 1999 53,744 5,374,359 38,632 25,408 64,040
Issuance of capital stock 9,763 976,356
Redemption of capital stock (4,991) (499,141)
Net income 376,589 376,589
Transfers from restricted retained earnings (14,453) 14,453
Dividends on capital stock (7.17%)

Cash payment (58) (58)
Stock issued 4,163 416,285 (416,285) (416,285)

Balance, December 31, 2000 62,679 $6,267,859 $ 24,179 $ 107 $ 24,286

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2000 1999 1998

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net Income $ 376,589 $ 332,553 $ 294,066
Extraordinary gains on early retirement of debt (1,346) (1,346) —

Income before extraordinary items 375,243 331,207 294,066

Adjustments to reconcile net income before extraordinary items to
net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization:

Net premiums and discounts on consolidated obligations 
and investments (252,512) (130,137) (126,648)

Concessions on consolidated obligations 14,032 7,949 2,689
Bank premises and equipment 1,163 2,203 4,480
Deferred net losses on interest rate exchange agreements 13,830 13,255 6,776

Affordable Housing Program (AHP) liability and discount on
AHP advances 18,493 9,956 11,026

Increase in REFCORP liability 14,131 — —
Gain on sale of building — (3,572) —
Gain on spin-off/termination of Cash Balance Plan — (10,507) —
Gain on non-monetary transfer of advances (443) — —
Increase in accrued interest receivable (1,037,154) (577,640) (325,015)
Increase in accrued interest payable 1,281,713 786,821 354,151
(Increase) decrease in other assets (54) 26,290 (2,992)
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities 915 (5,288) (25,153)

Total adjustments 54,114 119,330 (100,686)

Net cash provided by operating activities 429,357 450,537 193,380

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Net increase in interest-bearing deposits in banks (996,000) (1,300,000) (303,000)
Net decrease (increase) in Federal funds sold 260,000 (3,742,000) (2,565,000)
Net decrease (increase) in securities purchased under agreements to resell 2,158,885 (332,260) (1,051,705)
Net increase in short-term investments held to maturity (1,129,643) (867,413) (1,151,284)
Purchases of mortgage-backed securities (5,555,607) (3,000,359) (1,766,428)
Maturities of mortgage-backed securities 1,843,641 1,613,926 1,726,628
Principal collected on advances 316,900,500 195,964,633 101,722,700
Advances made to members (336,419,740) (222,489,710) (116,439,905)
Proceeds from sale of building — 92,661 —
Net increase to premises and equipment (1,165) (1,840) (2,155)

Net cash used in investing activities (22,939,129) (34,062,362) (19,830,149)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Net increase (decrease) in deposits 49,460 (151,262) 161,731
Net (decrease) increase in securities sold under agreements to repurchase — (150,000) 150,000
Net (decrease) increase in loans from other FHLBanks — (150,000) 150,000
Net increase in other borrowings — (6,111) —
Proceeds from sale of consolidated obligations:

Bonds 54,749,561 50,945,749 75,641,248
Discount notes 252,743,176 159,964,172 133,102,425

Payments for maturing and retiring consolidated obligations:
Bonds (34,165,950) (36,689,650) (59,382,516)
Discount notes (251,340,472) (140,822,323) (130,783,654)

Proceeds from issuance of capital stock 976,356 1,293,784 780,594
Payments for redemption of capital stock (499,141) (575,494) (135,689)
Cash dividends paid (58) (52) (46)
Capital distribution to REFCORP — (48,271) (48,816)

Net cash provided by financing activities 22,512,932 33,610,542 19,635,277

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,160 (1,283) (1,492)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,424 2,707 4,199

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 4,584 $ 1,424 $ 2,707

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES:

Interest paid during the year $ 6,197,314 $ 3,810,217 $ 3,118,914
Stock dividends issued during the year $ 416,285 $ 254,478 $ 220,828
Non-monetary transfer of advances $ 180,000 $ — $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31, 2000, 1999, and 1998

(Dollars in thousands)

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The Federal Home Loan Bank of San Francisco (Bank), a federally

chartered corporation, exempt from all federal, state and local

taxation except for real property taxes, is one of 12 District

Federal Home Loan Banks (FHLBanks), which together with

their member institutions and the Office of Finance, operating

under the supervision of the Federal Housing Finance Board

(Finance Board), compose the FHLBank System (Bank System).

The Bank is the largest of the 12 FHLBanks, and its assets and

capital are each approximately one fifth of the combined assets

and combined capital of the 12 FHLBanks as of December 31,

2000. The Bank System serves the public by enhancing the

availability of credit for residential mortgages and targeted

community development by providing a readily available, low-cost

source of funds to its member institutions. The Bank is a coop-

erative whose member institutions own the capital stock of the

Bank and receive dividends on their investments. Regulated

financial depositories and insurance companies engaged in

residential housing finance are eligible to apply for member-

ship. All members are required to purchase stock in the Bank.

The Finance Board, an independent federal agency in the execu-

tive branch of the United States Government, supervises and

regulates the FHLBanks. The Finance Board ensures that the

FHLBanks operate in a safe and sound manner, carry out their

housing finance mission, remain adequately capitalized, and

can raise funds in the capital markets. Also, the Finance Board

establishes policies and regulations governing the operations of

the FHLBanks. Each FHLBank is operated as a separate entity

with its own management, employees, and board of directors.

A primary source of funds for the FHLBanks is the proceeds

from the sale to the public of Bank System debt instruments

(consolidated obligations), which are the joint and several obli-

gations of all FHLBanks. Other funds are provided by deposits,

other borrowings, and the issuance of capital stock. All stock is

owned by the FHLBanks’ members.

In accordance with the Finance Board’s regulations, the Bank

has established a formal policy governing the compensation

and expense reimbursement provided its directors. Directors

are compensated based on the level of responsibility assumed.

Fees are paid for attendance at certain meetings. Directors are

also reimbursed for reasonable and necessary Bank-related

travel, subsistence, and other related expenses under a policy

similar to the Bank’s travel policy for employees. During 2000,

meeting fees totaled $226 and reimbursed travel and related

expenses totaled $142.

NOTE 1 –  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclo-

sure of contingent assets and liabilities, and the reported amounts

of income and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results

could differ from these estimates.

Held-to-Maturity Securities and Securities Purchased
Under Agreements to Resell. Held-to-maturity securities and

securities purchased under agreements to resell (resale agree-

ments) are carried at cost, adjusted for amortization of premi-

ums and accretion of discounts using methods that approxi-

mate the level-yield method. All investments are classified as

held-to-maturity securities because management has the posi-

tive intent and ability to hold these securities until maturity. 

As more fully discussed in “Recently Issued Accounting Standard”

on page 28, on January 1, 2001, the Bank transferred certain

held-to-maturity securities to “trading” (“investments held at fair

value” for the Bank’s purposes) as allowed under the transition

provisions contained in Statement of Financial Accounting

Standards No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activites,” as amended. Purchases of securities under

agreements to resell the same securities are recorded as col-

lateralized investments. Sales of securities under agreements

to repurchase the same or substantially the same securities are

treated as financings.

Advances. The Bank presents advances, net of unearned commit-

ment fees and discounts on advances for the Affordable Housing

Program (AHP), as discussed below. In addition, the carrying

value of advances is adjusted for the unamortized cost of

deferred net gains and losses from associated interest rate

exchange agreements, as well as overdrawn demand deposit

accounts. Interest on advances is credited to income as earned.

Deferred gains and losses are recognized over the life of the

underlying advance. Following the requirements of the Federal

Home Loan Bank Act of 1932, as amended (FHLB Act), the

Bank obtains sufficient collateral for advances to protect the

Bank from losses. The FHLB Act limits eligible collateral to

secure advances to certain investment securities, residential

mortgage loans, deposits with the Bank, and other selected

real-estate-related assets. As more fully discussed in Note 5, in

accordance with the Federal Home Loan Bank System

Modernization Act of 1999 (Modernization Act), the Bank may

also accept secured small business and agriculture loans as

collateral from members that are “community financial institu-

tions,” defined as FDIC-insured depository institutions with

average total assets over the preceding three-year period of less

than $500 million (to be adjusted each year by the annual per-

centage increase in the Consumer Price Index). The Bank has

never experienced any losses on advances since its inception.
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Based on the collateral held as security for advances, manage-

ment’s credit analyses, and prior repayment history, no allowance

for losses on advances is deemed necessary by management.

Affordable Housing Program. As more fully discussed in

Note 6, the FHLB Act requires each Bank to establish and fund

an AHP. The Bank charges the required funding to earnings and

establishes an offsetting liability. AHP funds provide direct

subsidies to members to assist in the purchase, construction,

or rehabilitation of housing for very low-, low-, and moderate-

income households. Advances that qualify under the Bank’s

AHP are made at interest rates below the customary interest

rate for non-subsidized advances. When an AHP advance is

made, the net present value of the difference in the cash flows

attributable to the difference between the interest rate of the

AHP advance and the Bank System’s related cost of funds for

comparable maturity funding is charged against the AHP liability

and recorded as a discount on the AHP advance.

Prepayment Fees. The Bank charges its members a prepayment

fee when certain advances are paid prior to original maturity. Such

fees are credited to income when received. Gains and losses on

terminated or redesignated interest rate exchange agreements

associated with advances that have been prepaid are netted

with prepayment fees in the Statements of Income. 

Commitment Fees. Commitment fees for advances are

deferred and amortized to interest income using the straight-

line method. The Bank defers refundable fees until the commit-

ment expires or until the advance is funded if material.

Commitment fees for letters of credit are recorded as a deferred

credit when received and amortized to other income over the

term of the letter of credit.

Interest Rate Exchange Agreements. As more fully discussed

in Notes 12 and 13, the Bank enters into interest rate swap,

cap, and floor agreements (interest rate exchange agreements)

to manage the Bank’s exposure to changes in interest rates.

These interest rate exchange agreements, when linked with a

designated financial instrument, effectively alter the financial

characteristics of the designated instrument. They may adjust

the effective maturity, repricing frequency, or option-related

characteristics of certain financial instruments to achieve certain

risk management objectives. Interest rate exchange agreements

are used by the Bank to hedge an underlying financial instrument

or when acting as an intermediary for members.

The differentials between accruals to interest receivable and

payable resulting from designated interest rate exchange agree-

ments associated with financial instruments are recognized as

adjustments to the interest yield or interest expense of the

underlying financial instrument. The differentials between accruals

to interest receivable and payable resulting from interest rate

exchange agreements in which the Bank acts as an intermediary

are recognized when incurred as other income. The intermediated

interest rate exchange agreements are classified as other assets

and other liabilities and measured at fair value in the Statements

of Condition, if material. In addition, the Bank recognizes changes

in fair value and realizes gains and losses on these interest rate

exchange agreements as other income in the period when

incurred, if material.

A designated interest rate exchange agreement’s association

with a designated underlying financial instrument ceases upon

termination of the designated underlying financial instrument

or when high correlation between these instruments has not been

met. Upon termination of the underlying financial instrument,

the interest rate exchange agreement is marked to market (and

the resulting gain or loss is included with the gain or loss on

the termination of the underlying financial instrument) and is

either terminated or redesignated as a hedge of other financial

instruments. The Bank may also enter into new interest rate

exchange agreements and designate them to the original interest

rate exchange agreements to offset the economic effects of the

original interest rate exchange agreements. Gains and losses on

terminated interest rate exchange agreements and redesignat-

ed interest rate exchange agreements that were linked with a

designated underlying financial instrument are deferred as long

as the related underlying financial instrument remains out-

standing. These deferred gains and losses are reported as

adjustments to the carrying value of the designated underlying

financial instrument. Deferred gains and losses related to inter-

est rate exchange agreements are amortized over the shorter of

the remaining life of the underlying financial instrument or the

period ending on the original maturity date of the interest rate

exchange agreement had it not been terminated. Unamortized

costs, such as premiums paid for interest rate caps and floors

and deferred gains and losses on these agreements, are reported

as adjustments to the carrying value of the designated financial

instrument and amortized, using a method approximating the

level-yield method, over the remaining life of the interest rate

exchange agreements.

Premises and Equipment. The Bank records premises and

equipment at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization,

which totaled approximately $4,326 and $4,324 at December 31,

2000 and 1999, respectively. Depreciation is computed on the

straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of assets

ranging from 3 to 10 years, and leasehold improvements are

amortized on the straight-line method over the estimated useful

life of the improvement or the remaining term of the lease,

whichever is shorter. Improvements and major renewals are

capitalized; ordinary maintenance and repairs are expensed as

incurred. Gains and losses on disposal are included in other

income. In May 1999, the Bank sold its San Francisco office

building and realized a gain of $24,099. The Bank recognized

$3,572 immediately upon the sale in 1999 and will defer and

amortize the remainder over the remaining term of the Bank’s

10-year leaseback of the space the Bank occupies. The unamor-

tized amount outstanding at December 31, 2000, was $17,446.
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Concessions on Consolidated Obligations. The amounts

paid to dealers in connection with the sale of consolidated

obligation bonds are deferred and amortized using a method

approximating the level-yield method over the term of the

obligations or through the first call date for callable bonds. The

amount of the concession is allocated to the Bank by the Office

of Finance based upon the percentage of the debt issued that

is assumed by the Bank. Concessions applicable to the sale of

consolidated obligation discount notes are generally charged to

interest expense as incurred because of the short-term maturities

of these notes.

Discounts and Premiums on Consolidated Obligations. The

discounts on consolidated obligation discount notes are amor-

tized to expense using a method approximating the level-yield

method over the term to maturity. The discounts and premiums

on consolidated obligation bonds are amortized to expense

using a method approximating the level-yield method over the

term to maturity of the consolidated obligation bond or through

the first call date for callable bonds.

Resolution Funding Corporation Assessments. Through

1999, the FHLBanks charged the $300 million annual capital

distribution to the Resolution Funding Corporation (REFCORP)

directly to retained earnings (see Note 10). Effective January 1,

2000, each FHLBank is required to pay 20% of net earnings

(after AHP contributions) to REFCORP. The FHLBanks will

expense these amounts until the aggregate amounts actually

paid by all 12 FHLBanks are equivalent to a $300 million annual

annuity whose final maturity date is April 15, 2030, at which

point the required payment of each FHLBank to REFCORP will

be fully satisfied.

Other Expenses. Each FHLBank is assessed a share of the cost

of operating the Finance Board and the Office of Finance, which

manages the sale and servicing of consolidated obligations.

Estimated Fair Values. Many of the Bank’s financial instru-

ments lack an available liquid trading market as characterized

by frequent transactions between a willing buyer and willing

seller engaging in an exchange transaction. Therefore, signifi-

cant assumptions and present value calculations have been

used by the Bank for the purposes of disclosing estimated fair

values. Thus, the fair values may not represent actual values of

the financial instruments that could have been realized as of

yearend or that will be realized in the future.

Carrying value is assumed to approximate fair value for financial

instruments with three months or less to repricing or maturity.

Fair values are based on quoted prices, market rates, or

replacement rates for similar financial instruments as of the

last business day of the year. The estimated fair values of the

Bank’s financial instruments and related assumptions are

detailed in Note 13.

Cash Flows. For purposes of the Statements of Cash Flows, the

Bank considers cash on hand and due from banks as cash and

cash equivalents.

Recently Issued Accounting Standard. In June 1998, the

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133,

“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”

(SFAS No. 133). In June 1999, the FASB issued SFAS No. 137,

“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities–

Deferral of the Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 133,”

which amended SFAS No. 133, deferring its effective date.

SFAS No. 133 is now effective for all fiscal quarters of all

fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2000 (January 1, 2001,

for the Bank). SFAS No. 133 requires that all derivative instruments

be recorded on the balance sheet at their fair value. Changes in

the fair value of derivatives will be recorded each period in current

earnings or other comprehensive income (a component of

capital), depending on whether a derivative is designated as part

of a hedge transaction and, if it is, the type of hedge transaction.

The gains and losses on the derivative instrument that will be

reported in other comprehensive income will be reclassified into

earnings in the periods in which earnings are affected by the

variability of the cash flows of the hedged items. The ineffec-

tive portion of all hedges will be recognized in current-period

earnings. In June 2000, the FASB issued SFAS No. 138,

“Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain

Hedging Activities,” which addressed a limited number of

implementation issues arising from SFAS No. 133.

The FHLBanks adopted SFAS No. 133, as amended by SFAS

No. 138, on January 1, 2001. The transition provisions contained

in SFAS No. 133, as amended, provide that at the date of initial

application, an entity may transfer any security classified as

“held-to-maturity” to “available-for-sale” or “trading” and any

security classified as “available-for-sale” to “trading.” On the

initial adoption date of SFAS No. 133, as amended, the Bank

transferred held-to-maturity securities with an amortized cost

of $664,274 and an estimated fair value of $671,408 into the

“trading” category (investments held at fair value, with changes

in fair value recognized in earnings). The unrealized net gain as

of the transfer date related to the transfer of these held-to-

maturity securities into the investments held at fair value category

was $7,134 and was shown as additional income in the Bank’s

results of operations in January 2001 as a cumulative effect of

a change in accounting principle, increasing net income. The

remaining cumulative effect of adjustments related to fair value

hedges and derivative transactions either not designated as

hedges under SFAS No. 133 or not meeting the requirements

for fair value or cash flow hedges was shown as a charge to the

Bank’s results of operations in January 2001 as part of the

cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, decreasing
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net income by $9,587. These factors combined resulted in a

net charge to January 2001 results of operations totaling $2,453,

or $1,802 after applicable assessments.

In January 2001, the Bank also recognized in accumulated other

comprehensive income, a component of capital, the remaining

unamortized balance of the deferred losses from certain interest

rate swap agreements terminated by the Bank in 1998, as part

of the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle,

decreasing capital by $17,065. The Bank’s Board of Directors

had previously retained $17,100 in restricted retained earnings

to offset this effect on capital. 

The ongoing impact of SFAS No. 133 on the Bank cannot be

predicted, and the Bank’s retained earnings in the future may

not be sufficient to offset the full impact of SFAS No. 133. As

a result, the effect of SFAS No. 133 may lead to increased

volatility in future earnings and dividends.

Reclassification. Certain amounts in the 1999 and 1998

financial statements have been reclassified to conform with the

2000 presentation.

NOTE 2 –  CASH AND DUE FROM BANKS

Compensating Balances. The Bank maintains average collected

cash balances with several commercial banks in consideration

for certain services. There are no legal restrictions under these

agreements as to the withdrawal of these funds. The average

compensating balances for the years ended December 31, 2000

and 1999, were approximately $5,735 and $5,253, respectively.

In addition, the Bank maintained average collected balances

with various Federal Reserve Banks as required clearing bal-

ances and to facilitate the movement of funds to support the

Bank’s activities. There are regulations governing the withdrawal

of these funds; however, earnings credits on these balances

may be used to pay for services received. The average balances

for these accounts for the years ended December 31, 2000 and

1999, were approximately $1,480 and $999, respectively.

NOTE 3 –  SECURITIES PURCHASED UNDER AGREEMENTS TO RESELL

Securities purchased under agreements to resell (resale agree-

ments) were as follows:

Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gains Losses Value

December 31, 2000 $ 400,000 $ — $ — $ 400,000

December 31, 1999 $2,558,885 $1,144 $ — $ 2,560,029

Redemption Terms. The amortized cost and estimated fair

value of resale agreements by contractual maturity as of

December 31, 2000 and 1999, are shown below. 

2000 1999

Amortized Estimated Amortized Estimated
Year of Maturity Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value

Due in one year 
or less $400,000 $400,000 $2,558,885 $2,560,029

The Bank engages in resale agreements with a limited number

of securities dealers, all of which are “primary dealers” as des-

ignated by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York. The amounts

advanced under these agreements represent short-term loans

and are reflected as assets in the Statements of Condition. The

collateral from resale agreements, all of which is highly rated,

is held by the Bank’s safekeeping custodian. Should the market

value of the underlying securities decrease below the market

value required as collateral, the counterparty is required to place

additional securities in safekeeping in the name of the Bank.

The Bank had rights to securities collateral with an estimated

value in excess of the resale agreements outstanding at

December 31, 2000 and 1999.

Resale agreements averaged $1,523,936 and $2,098,691

during 2000 and 1999, respectively. The maximum amounts

outstanding at any monthend during 2000 and 1999 were

$4,379,091 and $4,318,410, respectively. 

Interest Rate Payment Terms. Interest rate payment terms for

resale agreements at December 31, 2000 and 1999, are detailed

in the following table:

2000 1999

Amortized cost of resale agreements:

Fixed rate $ 400,000 $ 1,000,000

Adjustable rate — 1,558,885

Total $ 400,000 $ 2,558,885

NOTE 4 –  HELD-TO-MATURITY SECURITIES

Major Security Types. Held-to-maturity securities were as follows:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

December 31, 2000 Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

Commercial paper $ 4,558,154 $ — $ (633) $ 4,557,521

Housing finance 
agency bonds 204,000 3,460 — 207,460

Subtotal 4,762,154 3,460 (633) 4,764,981

Mortgage-backed 
securities 10,762,539 49,004 (8,449) 10,803,094

Subtotal 15,524,693 52,464 (9,082) 15,568,075

Associated interest 
rate swaps — 101 (9,292) (9,191)

Total $15,524,693 $ 52,565 $ (18,374) $15,558,884
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Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

December 31, 1999 Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

Commercial paper $ 3,333,236 $ 1,787 $ — $ 3,335,023

Mortgage-backed 
securities 7,048,793 — (115,162) 6,933,631

Subtotal 10,382,029 1,787 (115,162) 10,268,654

Associated interest
rate swaps — 11,638 (1,343) 10,295

Total $10,382,029 $13,425 $ (116,505) $10,278,949

Redemption Terms. The amortized cost and estimated fair

value of held-to-maturity securities, excluding associated inter-

est rate exchange agreements, by contractual maturity as of

December 31, 2000 and 1999, are shown below. Expected

maturities of certain securities and mortgage-backed securities

will differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have

the right to prepay obligations with or without prepayment fees.

2000 1999

Amortized Estimated Amortized Estimated
Year of Maturity Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value

Due in one year 
or less $ 4,558,154 $ 4,557,521 $ 3,333,236 $ 3,335,023

Due after 
ten years 204,000 207,460 — —

Subtotal 4,762,154 4,764,981 3,333,236 3,335,023

Mortgage-backed 
securities 10,762,539 10,803,094 7,048,793 6,933,631

Total $ 15,524,693 $15,568,075 $10,382,029 $10,268,654

The amortized cost of the Bank’s mortgage-backed securities,

all of which are classified as held to maturity, included net dis-

counts of ($44,578) and net premiums of $2,629 at December

31, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Interest Rate Payment Terms. Interest rate payment terms for

held-to-maturity securities and the notional principal of the

interest rate exchange agreements associated with these 

securities at December 31, 2000 and 1999, are detailed in the

following table:

2000 1999

Amortized cost of held-to-maturity securities 
other than mortgage-backed securities:

Fixed rate $ 4,558,154 $ 3,333,236

Adjustable rate 204,000 —

Subtotal 4,762,154 3,333,236

Amortized cost of held-to-maturity mortgage-
backed securities:

Passthrough securities:

Fixed rate 1,263,601 1,644,129

Adjustable rate 1,380,819 1,244,192

Collateralized mortgage obligations:

Fixed rate 3,435,035 2,855,802

Adjustable rate 4,683,084 1,304,670

Subtotal 10,762,539 7,048,793

Total $ 15,524,693 $10,382,029

Associated interest rate swaps $ 664,274 $ 1,157,505

The effect of these interest rate swaps on interest income is

disclosed in Note 12.

NOTE 5 –  ADVANCES

Redemption Terms. At December 31, 2000 and 1999, the

Bank had advances outstanding, including AHP advances (see

Note 6), at interest rates ranging from 3.30% to 8.80% as

summarized below.

Weighted
December 31, 2000 Amount Average
Year of Maturity Outstanding Interest Rate

Overdrawn demand deposit accounts $ 124 7.41%

2001 59,299,475 6.56

2002 24,422,784 6.40

2003 17,936,408 6.32

2004 4,086,171 6.08

2005 1,478,616 6.67

Thereafter 2,807,907 6.17

Subtotal 110,031,485 6.46%

Discount on AHP advances (609)

Deferred net loss on interest rate 
exchange agreements 765

Total $ 110,031,641

Weighted
December 31, 1999 Amount Average
Year of Maturity Outstanding Interest Rate

Overdrawn demand deposit accounts $ 1,529 5.99%

2000 49,134,618 5.82

2001 20,608,737 5.97

2002 7,762,001 5.71

2003 6,578,864 5.41

2004 4,046,355 5.87

2005 187,919 5.57

Thereafter 2,194,653 5.83

Subtotal 90,514,676 5.81%

Discount on AHP advances (854)

Deferred net gain on interest rate 
exchange agreements (176)

Unamortized fees on interest rate caps 183

Total $ 90,513,829

Many of the Bank’s advances are prepayable at the member’s

option. However, when certain advances are prepaid, the

member is charged a prepayment fee that makes the Bank

financially indifferent to the prepayment of advances. Other

advances may be repaid on pertinent call dates without incur-

ring prepayment fees (Callable Advances). At December 31,

2000 and 1999, the Bank had Callable Advances outstanding

totaling $2,025,850 and $2,009,819, respectively.
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The following table summarizes advances at December 31, 2000

and 1999, by the earlier of the year of contractual maturity or

next call date for Callable Advances:

Earlier of Year of Contractual Maturity
or Next Call Date 2000 1999

Overdrawn demand deposit accounts $ 124 $ 1,529

2000 — 49,886,318

2001 60,674,225 20,614,037

2002 24,172,784 7,762,001

2003 16,830,658 5,825,864

2004 4,086,171 4,046,355

2005 1,478,616 187,919

Thereafter 2,788,907 2,190,653

Total par value $ 110,031,485 $ 90,514,676

The Bank also provides below-market fixed rate advances in

exchange for the right of the Bank to retain a “put” option. At

the Bank’s discretion, on pertinent put dates, the Bank may ter-

minate the advance (Putable Advance/Termination Option) or

convert the advance to an Adjustable Rate Credit advance of

predetermined index and spread for the remaining term to

maturity (Putable Advance/Conversion Option). The Bank’s

advances at December 31, 2000 and 1999, included $1,786,000

and $2,810,500, respectively, of Putable Advances/Termination

Option. There were no Putable Advances/Conversion Option

outstanding as of December 31, 2000 and 1999.

The following table summarizes advances to members at

December 31, 2000 and 1999, by the earlier of the year of

contractual maturity or next put date for Putable Advances:

Earlier of Year of Contractual Maturity
or Next Put Date 2000 1999

Overdrawn demand deposit accounts $ 124 $ 1,529

2000 — 50,916,118

2001 60,399,975 21,005,237

2002 24,441,284 7,393,001

2003 17,991,908 5,812,364

2004 3,998,671 3,756,855

2005 1,305,616 187,919

Thereafter 1,893,907 1,441,653

Total par value $ 110,031,485 $ 90,514,676

Security Terms. The Bank lends to member financial institu-

tions involved in housing finance that have a principal place 

of business in California, Arizona, or Nevada. The Bank is

required by the FHLB Act to obtain sufficient collateral for

advances to protect against losses and to accept only certain

U.S. government or government agency securities, residential

mortgage loans or mortgage-backed securities, deposits in the

Bank, and other real-estate-related assets as collateral for

advances. In accordance with the Modernization Act, the Bank

may also accept secured small business loans and agriculture

loans as collateral from members that are “community financial

institutions,” defined as FDIC-insured depository institutions

with average total assets over the preceding three-year period

of less than $500 million (to be adjusted each year by the

annual percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index).

The Bank requires each borrowing member to execute a written

Advances and Security Agreement. The capital stock of the

Bank owned by each borrowing member is pledged as additional

collateral for the member’s indebtedness to the Bank. The

FHLB Act requires that the aggregate advances from the Bank

to a member may not exceed 20 times the amount paid by the

member for capital stock of the Bank. At December 31, 2000

and 1999, the Bank had a security interest in collateral with an

estimated value in excess of outstanding advances for each

member. Based upon the financial condition of the borrowing

member, the Bank may either (i) allow the member to physically

retain mortgage collateral assigned to the Bank provided that

the member executes a written agreement and agrees to hold

the collateral for the benefit of the Bank, or (ii) require the

member to deliver physical possession of the mortgage collateral

to the Bank or its safekeeping agent. All securities collateral is

delivered to the Bank’s safekeeping agent.

Beyond these provisions, Section 10(e) of the FHLB Act affords

any security interest granted by a member to the Bank priority

over claims or rights of any other party. The only two exceptions

are claims that would be entitled to priority under otherwise

applicable law or perfected security interests.

Credit Risk. The Bank has never experienced any credit losses

on advances since it was founded, nor does management of the

Bank anticipate any credit losses on advances. Based on the

collateral held as security for advances, management’s credit

analyses, and prior repayment history, no allowance for losses

on advances is deemed necessary by management.

The Bank’s potential credit risk from advances is concentrated

in savings institutions. As of December 31, 2000, the Bank had

a concentration of advances totaling $89,244,642 outstanding

to three members, representing 81% of total outstanding advances

(44%, 24%, and 13%, respectively). The interest income from

advances to these members amounted to approximately $5,137,317

during 2000. The Bank held collateral with an estimated value

in excess of advances to these institutions, and the Bank does

not expect to incur any credit losses on these advances. 
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Interest Rate Payment Terms. Interest rate payment terms 

for advances and the notional principal of the interest rate

exchange agreements associated with advances at December

31, 2000 and 1999, are detailed below:

2000 1999

Par amount of advances:

Fixed rate $ 60,014,081 $47,072,427

Adjustable rate 50,017,404 43,442,249

Total $110,031,485 $90,514,676

Notional principal of interest rate exchange 
agreements associated with advances:

Interest rate swaps $ 44,702,747 $31,083,669

Interest rate caps purchased 1,178,610 37,360

Total $ 45,881,357 $31,121,029

The effect of these interest rate exchange agreements on 

interest income is disclosed in Note 12. 

Prepayment Fees, Net. During 2000, 1999, and 1998, the

Bank charged its members prepayment fees when the principal

on certain advances was paid prior to original maturity. In addition,

some of these advances were associated with interest rate

exchange agreements. Upon termination of these advances, the

associated interest rate exchange agreements were either

marked to market and redesignated as hedges of other advances

or terminated, and the resulting gains or losses (see Note 12)

were netted with the prepayment fees on the Statements of

Income. These transactions during the years ended December 31,

2000, 1999, and 1998, are summarized in the following table:

2000 1999 1998

Prepayment fees received $ 811 $ 1,398 $ 23,249

Net (losses)/gains on interest
rate exchange agreements 
associated with prepaid
advances (419) 701 1,477

Prepayment fees, net $ 392 $ 2,099 $ 24,726

Advance principal prepaid $854,135 $ 537,000 $5,191,083

NOTE 6 –  AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAM

Section 10(j) of the FHLB Act requires each FHLBank to estab-

lish an AHP. Each FHLBank provides subsidies in the form of

direct grants and below-market-interest-rate advances to 

members, which use the funds to assist in the purchase, con-

struction, or rehabilitation of housing for very low-, low-, and

moderate-income families. Annually, the FHLBanks must set

aside for their AHPs, in the aggregate, the greater of $100 mil-

lion or 10% of the current year’s income before charges for the

AHP but after the assessment for REFCORP (see Note 10). To

the extent that the aggregate 10% calculation is less than

$100 million, the shortfall is allocated among the FHLBanks

based on the ratio of each FHLBank’s income before AHP and

REFCORP to the sum of the net incomes before AHP and REF-

CORP of the 12 FHLBanks. There was no AHP shortfall in

either 2000 or 1999. The Bank set aside $41,843, $31,651,

and $27,352, during 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively, for

the AHP. These amounts were charged to earnings each year

and recognized as a liability. As subsidies are disbursed, the

AHP liability is reduced.

NOTE 7 –  DEPOSITS

The Bank maintains demand deposit accounts that are directly

related to the extension of credit to members and offered short-

term deposit programs to members and qualifying non-members.

Interest Rate Payment Terms. Interest rate payment terms for

deposits at December 31, 2000 and 1999, are detailed in the

following table:

2000 1999

Deposits:

Fixed rate $ 28,800 $ 23,810

Adjustable rate 347,613 303,143

Total $376,413 $326,953

NOTE 8 –  BORROWINGS

At times the Bank enters into sales of securities under agree-

ments to repurchase (repurchase agreements) with a limited

number of securities dealers, all of which are “primary dealers”

as designated by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York. The

amounts received under these agreements represent short-term

borrowings and are reflected as liabilities in the Statements of

Condition. The securities sold under agreements to repurchase

are delivered to the purchasing primary dealers or their custo-

dians. Should the market value of the underlying securities

decrease below the market value required by the repurchase

agreements, the Bank is required to deliver additional securi-

ties to the dealers. Repurchase agreements averaged $198,907

and $40,000 during 2000 and 1999, respectively, and the

maximum amount outstanding at any monthend during 2000

and 1999 was $400,000 and $150,000, respectively. There

were no repurchase agreements outstanding at December 31,

2000, or 1999.

NOTE 9 –  CONSOLIDATED OBLIGATIONS

Consolidated obligations are the joint and several obligations of

the FHLBanks and consist of consolidated obligation bonds and

discount notes. Through December 31, 2000, the Finance

Board issued consolidated bonds through the Office of Finance

primarily to raise intermediate- and long-term funds for the

FHLBanks. Usually the maturity of consolidated bonds ranges

from one year to ten years, but the maturity is not subject to

any statutory or regulatory limits. Through December 31, 2000,

the Finance Board issued consolidated discount notes through

the Office of Finance primarily to raise short-term funds. These

notes are issued at less than their face amount and redeemed

at par when they mature. The Finance Board adopted final rules

on June 2, 2000, to govern the issuance of debt for the

FHLBanks. Effective January 1, 2001, the Finance Board will

not issue new debt on behalf of the FHLBanks; instead, all new

debt will be jointly issued by the FHLBanks through the Office

of Finance, which will serve as their agent. 



33

Notes to Financial Statements

F E D E R A L  H O M E  L O A N  B A N K  O F  S A N  F R A N C I S C O 2 0 0 0  A N N U A L  R E P O RT

The par amount of the outstanding consolidated obligations 

of all the FHLBanks, including consolidated obligations held 

by other FHLBanks, was approximately $614,064,795 and

$549,370,500 at December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Regulations require the FHLBanks to maintain, in the aggre-

gate, unpledged “Qualifying Assets” in an amount equal to the

consolidated obligations outstanding. “Qualifying Assets” are

defined as cash; secured advances; assets with an assessment

or rating at least equivalent to the current assessment or rating

of the consolidated obligations; obligations, participations,

mortgages, or other securities of or issued by the United States

or an agency of the United States; and such securities as fidu-

ciary and trust funds may invest in under the laws of the state

in which the FHLBank is located. 

On June 2, 2000, the Finance Board adopted a final rule

amending the FHLBanks’ leverage limit requirements. Effective

July 1, 2000, each FHLBank’s leverage limit is based on a ratio

of assets to capital, rather than a ratio of liabilities to capital.

The Finance Board’s former regulations prohibited the issuance

of consolidated obligations if such issuance would bring the

Bank System’s outstanding consolidated obligations and other

unsecured senior liabilities above 20 times the Bank System’s

total capital. In addition, this leverage limitation was tem-

porarily increased to 25 times the Bank System’s total capital

through June 30, 2000, in order to facilitate Year 2000-related

lending. The Finance Board’s Financial Management Policy also

applied these limits on an FHLBank-by-FHLBank basis. The

final rule deletes the Bank System-wide leverage limit from the

regulations, but generally limits each FHLBank’s assets to no

more than 21 times its capital. Nevertheless, an FHLBank

whose non-mortgage assets (primarily non-MBS securities),

after deducting deposits and capital, do not exceed 11 percent

of its assets may have total assets in an amount not greater

than 25 times its capital. 

To provide the holders of consolidated obligations issued prior

to January 29, 1993 (prior bondholders), protection equivalent

to that provided under the Bank System’s previous leverage

limit of 12 times Bank System capital stock, prior bondholders

have a claim on a certain amount of the Qualifying Assets

(Special Asset Account or SAA) if the FHLBanks’ aggregate

capital stock is less than 8.33% of consolidated obligations

outstanding. The FHLBanks’ capital stock at December 31,

2000 and 1999, was 5.0% and 5.2%, respectively, of the par

value of consolidated obligations outstanding, and the SAA bal-

ance was approximately $37,100 and $67,300, respectively.

The Bank’s share of this SAA balance was approximately

$8,000 and $14,300 at December 31, 2000 and 1999,

respectively. Further, each FHLBank is required to transfer

Qualifying Assets in the amount of its allocated share of the

Bank System’s SAA to a trust for the benefit of the prior bond-

holders if its individual capital-to-assets ratio falls below 2.0%.

General Terms. Consolidated obligations are generally issued

with either fixed rate payment terms or adjustable rate payment

terms, which use a variety of indices for interest rate resets,

including the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR), Federal

funds, U.S. Treasury Bill, Constant Maturity Treasury (CMT),

Prime Rate, and others. In addition, to meet the specific needs

of certain investors, fixed rate and adjustable rate consolidated

obligation bonds may also contain certain embedded features,

which may result in complex coupon payment terms and call

options. Generally, when such consolidated obligations are

issued, the Bank simultaneously enters into interest rate

exchange agreements containing offsetting features to convert

the terms of the bond, in effect, to the terms of a simple

adjustable rate bond (tied to an index, such as those detailed

above) or a fixed rate bond. 

Consolidated obligations, in addition to having fixed rate or

simple adjustable rate coupon payment terms, may also include

“callable bonds,” which the Bank may redeem in whole or in

part at its discretion on predetermined call dates according to

the terms of the bond offerings; “step-up bonds,” which gener-

ally pay interest at increasing fixed rates for specified intervals

over the life of the bond and can be called at the Bank’s option

on the step-up dates; “comparative index bonds,” which have

coupon rates that are determined by the difference between

two or more market indices; “inverse floating bonds,” which

have coupons that increase as an index declines and decrease

as an index rises; and “zero-coupon bonds,” which are long-

term discounted instruments that earn a fixed yield to maturity

or to the option principal redemption date, and for which all

principal and interest are paid at maturity or at the option prin-

cipal redemption date, if exercised prior to maturity. 

Redemption Terms. The following is a summary of the Bank’s

participation in consolidated obligation bonds:

Weighted
December 31, 2000 Amount Average
Year of Maturity Outstanding Interest Rate

2001 $ 45,397,450 6.06%

2002 26,313,950 6.06

2003 14,731,050 5.87

2004 7,175,300 6.21

2005 2,302,900 6.86

Thereafter 1,505,575 6.23

Total par value 97,426,225 6.06%

Concessions (6,914)

Bond premiums 18,425

Bond discounts (72,117)

Deferred net loss on interest rate 
exchange agreements (11)

Total $ 97,365,608
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Weighted
December 31, 1999 Amount Average
Year of Maturity Outstanding Interest Rate

2000 $ 27,049,500 5.30%

2001 16,135,000 5.43

2002 13,091,000 5.51

2003 12,634,500 5.65

2004 6,225,000 6.10

2005 393,900 5.23

Thereafter 1,248,825 6.12

Total par value 76,777,725 5.50%

Concessions (8,669)

Bond premiums 14,881

Bond discounts (58,195)

Deferred net loss on interest rate
exchange agreements (53)

Total $ 76,725,689 

The Bank’s participation in consolidated obligation bonds out-

standing at December 31, 2000 and 1999, includes callable

bonds of $39,487,850 and $31,674,000, respectively. Contem-

poraneous with such callable debt issuance, the Bank usually

enters into an interest rate swap (in which the Bank pays a vari-

able rate and receives a fixed rate) with a call feature that mirrors

the option embedded in the debt (a sold callable swap). The

combined sold callable swap and callable debt enable the Bank

to meet its funding needs at costs not otherwise directly attain-

able solely through the issuance of non-callable debt. The Bank

also uses fixed rate callable bonds to finance callable advances

(see Note 5) and mortgage-backed securities. 

The Bank’s participation in consolidated obligation bonds was

as follows:

2000 1999

Par amount of consolidated bonds:

Non-callable $57,938,375 $ 45,103,725

Callable 39,487,850 31,674,000

Total par value $97,426,225 $ 76,777,725

The following is a summary of the Bank’s participation in consoli-

dated obligation bonds outstanding at December 31, 2000 and

1999, by the earlier of the year of contractual maturity or next

call date:

Earlier of Year of Contractual December 31, December 31,
Maturity or Next Call Date 2000 1999

2000 $ — $ 48,939,500

2001 68,373,000 14,920,000

2002 19,548,950 6,911,000

2003 6,717,800 4,749,500

2004 1,265,000 265,000

2005 490,900 188,900

Thereafter 1,030,575 803,825

Total $ 97,426,225 $ 76,777,725

Based on the prevailing interest rates at December 31, 2000,

$6,950,000 of the Bank’s callable bonds had in-the-money

calls that could be exercised in 2001. However, depending on

the level and volatility of interest rates and other factors, actual

results may differ.

Interest Rate Payment Terms. Interest rate payment terms 

for consolidated obligations and the notional principal of the

interest rate exchange agreements associated with consolidated

obligations at December 31, 2000 and 1999, are detailed in

the following table:

2000 1999

Par amount of consolidated obligations:

Consolidated bonds:

Fixed rate $ 78,276,775 $ 63,743,325

Adjustable rate 17,320,000 10,597,500

Zero-coupon 825,000 1,150,000

Step-up 537,550 910,000

Inverse floating 165,000 100,000

Comparative index 301,900 276,900

Total consolidated bonds, par 97,426,225 76,777,725

Consolidated discount notes, par 32,477,869 31,083,943

Total consolidated obligations, par $129,904,094 $107,861,668

Associated interest rate swaps $109,230,995 $ 90,337,556

The effect of these interest rate swaps on interest expense is

disclosed in Note 12.

The Bank’s participation in consolidated obligation discount

notes, all of which are due within one year, was as follows:

2000 1999

Weighted Weighted
Amount Average Amount Average

Outstanding Interest Rate Outstanding Interest Rate

Par value $32,477,869 6.25% $31,083,943 5.54%

Discounts (362,774) (373,581)

Concessions (612) (1,022)

Deferred net loss 
on interest 
rate exchange 
agreements (17,052) (32,594)

Total $32,097,431 $30,676,746
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Section 11(i) of the FHLB Act authorizes the Secretary of the

Treasury, at his discretion, to purchase certain obligations

issued by the FHLBanks aggregating not more than $4.0 bil-

lion; terms, conditions and interest rates are to be determined

by the Secretary of the Treasury. There were no such purchases

by the U.S. Treasury during the two-year period ended December

31, 2000.

Extraordinary Item - Early Retirement of Debt. During 2000,

1999, and 1998, the Bank retired consolidated obligations

either by purchasing such obligations in the open market or by

selling its participation in certain obligations to other FHLBanks.

Some of these obligations were designated to interest rate ex-

change agreements that were marked to market and terminated

at the date of retirement. The resulting gain or loss (see Note

12), if material, was netted with the gain or loss on the early

retirement of debt. The 2000, 1999, and 1998 transactions are

summarized in the following table:

2000 1999 1998

(Loss)/gain on sale of 
consolidated obligations 
to other FHLBanks $ (73) $ 772 $ —

Gain on retirement of 
consolidated obligations 13,584 2,063 —

Loss on interest rate exchange 
agreements associated with 
consolidated obligations sold
to other FHLBanks or retired 
in the market (12,165) (1,489) —

Extraordinary gain $ 1,346 $ 1,346 $ —

Par value retired $ 1,237,450 $ 533,650 $ 680,000

NOTE 10 –  CAPITAL

The Modernization Act will lead to a number of changes in the

capital structure of the FHLBanks. On December 20, 2000, the

Finance Board approved the final rule outlining the regulations

for a new capital structure for the FHLBanks, and the final rule

was published on January 30, 2001. The Modernization Act

requires each FHLBank to submit a capital plan to the Finance

Board for approval within 270 days of the publication of the

final rule (October 29, 2001) and provides a transition period

to the new capital structure of up to three years from the effec-

tive date of each FHLBank’s capital plan. Until such time as

the FHLBanks fully implement their new capital plans, the 

current capital rules remain in effect. In particular, the FHLB

Act requires each member to purchase capital stock equal to

the greater of 1% of its mortgage-related assets or 5% of its

outstanding FHLBank advances. However, the Modernization

Act removed the provision that required a nonthrift member to

purchase additional stock to borrow from its FHLBank if the

nonthrift member’s mortgage-related assets were less than 65%

of its total assets. A member may, at the Bank’s discretion,

redeem at par value any capital stock greater than its statutory

requirement or sell it to other Bank members at par value.

When each FHLBank’s capital structure plan has been

approved by the Finance Board and implemented by the

FHLBank, the FHLBank will be subject to risk-based capital

rules. Each FHLBank may offer two classes of stock. Members

may redeem Class A stock by giving six months’ notice, and

members may redeem Class B stock by giving five years’ notice.

Only “permanent” capital, defined as retained earnings and

Class B stock, can satisfy the risk-based capital requirement.

In addition, the Modernization Act specifies a 5% minimum

leverage capital ratio with a 1.5 weighting factor for permanent

capital, and a 4% minimum leverage capital ratio without the

1.5 weighting factor. 

The Modernization Act established voluntary membership for

all members. All members may withdraw from membership and

redeem their capital stock after giving the required notice.

Members that withdraw from membership may not re-apply for

membership for five years.

On June 22, 2000, the Finance Board rescinded its dividend

policy applicable to the FHLBanks. This rescission effectively

eliminated the requirement that the FHLBanks restrict retained

earnings for that portion of income from prepayment fees that,

if allocated on a pro-rata basis over the maturity of the advances

prepaid, would be allocated to future dividend periods. Other

gains and losses related to the termination of interest rate

exchange agreements and early retirement of consolidated obli-

gations have been similarly treated. The Bank’s Board of

Directors adopted a policy to continue the practice of restricting

retained earnings generally consistent with the Finance Board’s

rescinded dividend policy. Retained earnings restricted in

accordance with these policies totaled $7,079, $10,716, and

$14,366, at December 31, 2000, 1999, and 1998, respec-

tively. The Bank’s Board of Directors may declare and pay, in

either cash or capital stock, dividends only from retained earn-

ings or current net earnings.

In anticipation of the possible effect of implementing SFAS No.

133, the the Bank’s Board of Directors decided to retain

$17,100 in restricted retained earnings to offset the effect on

capital of recognizing in other comprehensive income, a com-

ponent of capital, the remaining unamortized balance of the

deferred losses from certain interest rate exchange agreements

terminated by the Bank in 1998. The Bank’s retained earnings

in the future may not be sufficient to offset the full impact of

SFAS No. 133. As a result, the effect of SFAS No. 133 may

lead to increased volatility in future earnings and dividends.

Through 1999, the 12 FHLBanks combined were required to

pay $300 million annually through 2030 to fund a portion of

the interest on REFCORP debt. Prior to the payment of any divi-

dends, each FHLBank was initially assessed up to 20% of its net

income (after AHP contributions) to meet the required payments.
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To the extent that 20% of net income was insufficient to meet

the required $300 million assessment in any year, the shortfall

was allocated among all FHLBanks based on the percentage equal

to the ratio of the FHLBank’s average advances to members

that were members of the Savings Association Insurance Fund

(SAIF) during the preceding year to the FHLBank System’s total

average advances to SAIF-insured members during that year. If

the initial 20% assessment calculation exceeded the required

$300 million, the $300 million was allocated among the FHL-

Banks based on the ratio of each FHLBank’s net income after AHP

contributions to the System net income after AHP contributions.

Higher net earnings in 1999 for the 12 FHLBanks combined

enabled the FHLBanks to pay their $300 million annual assess-

ment without a shortfall allocation. Retained earnings were

charged $47,694 for REFCORP interest assessments in 1999.

Effective January 1, 2000, the Modernization Act changed

these required payments to 20% of net earnings for each FHL-

Bank, with the final payment adjusted so that the aggregate

payments made by all 12 FHLBanks are equivalent to a $300

million annual annuity whose final maturity date is April 15, 2030.

The cumulative amount to be paid to REFCORP by the Bank is

not determinable at this time because of the uncertainty of the

FHLBanks’ future earnings. The FHLBanks’ payments during

2000 defeased all future benchmark payments after the first

quarter of 2026 and $40,000 of the $75,000 benchmark 

payment for the first quarter of 2026.

Effective April 1999, the Bank implemented its mandatory sur-

plus capital stock redemption policy. Surplus capital stock is

defined as any excess stock holdings above 115% of a member’s

statutory capital stock requirement, excluding stock dividends

earned and credited for the current year. In accordance with

this plan, the Bank redeemed $367,624 and $413,444 in sur-

plus capital stock in 2000 and 1999, respectively. At December

31, 2000, surplus capital stock subject to mandatory redemption

in January 2001 was $33,746.

As of December 31, 2000, the Bank had a concentration of

capital stock totaling 48.3 million shares outstanding to three

members, representing 77% of total capital stock outstanding

(42%, 22%, and 13%, respectively).

NOTE 11 –  EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS

Prior to January 1, 1996, the Bank was a participant in the

Financial Institutions Retirement Fund (FIRF), a defined bene-

fit plan. The Bank funded its share of FIRF’s normal cost each

plan year through June 30, 1987. In the plan year beginning

July 1, 1987, the “full-funding limitation” (as defined by the

Employee Retirement Income Security Act) became applicable

to the Bank because of favorable investment and other actuar-

ial experience in previous years. As a result, the Bank was no

longer required or permitted to make payments to FIRF in 

subsequent plan years.

Effective January 1, 1996, the Bank ceased to be a participating

employer in FIRF, and the Bank began providing retirement

benefits through a new Bank-sponsored Cash Balance Plan, a

defined benefit plan. The Cash Balance Plan covers all employ-

ees who have completed six months of Bank service. Under the

plan, each eligible Bank employee accrues benefits annually

equal to 6% of the employee’s annual pay, plus 6% interest on

the benefits accrued to the employee through the prior yearend.

The Cash Balance Plan is funded through a trust established by

the Bank. In general, the amount to be funded by the Bank

each year is determined by an independent actuary. Because of

the transfer of surplus assets from FIRF, the assets of the Cash

Balance Plan have substantially exceeded the amount of

accrued benefits, so the Bank has not made additional pay-

ments to the Plan since its inception. The funded status of the

Cash Balance Plan was $15,878 at December 31, 1998. The

unrecognized net gain amounted to $12,355, resulting in pre-

paid pension costs of $3,523 at December 31, 1998. For the

year ended December 31, 1998, the Bank recognized net peri-

odic pension income of $1,114, primarily from the expected

return on the excess funded status and the amortization of the

unrecognized net gain.

In February 1999, with approval from the Internal Revenue

Service, the Bank implemented a spin-off/termination involving

the Cash Balance Plan. The benefits of all inactive Cash

Balance Plan participants (individuals who no longer work for

the Bank) as of February 28, 1999, along with most of the 

surplus assets in the Cash Balance Plan (plan assets that

exceeded Cash Balance Plan liabilities) net of the 2000 fund-

ing requirement for active employees, were transferred to a 

separate spin-off plan, which was then immediately terminated.

At that time, the Bank recognized the remaining unamortized

deferred gain, or $10,507. The projected benefit obligation and

the accrued pension cost of the Cash Balance Plan were

$4,044 and $2,329, respectively, at December 31, 2000, and

$3,125 and $1,560, respectively, at December 31, 1999. The

periodic pension cost for the years ended December 31, 2000

and 1999, totaled $769 and $560, respectively.

The Bank also participates in the Financial Institutions Thrift

Plan, a defined contribution savings plan. The Bank’s contribu-

tion consists of elective participant contributions and a Bank

matching contribution of up to 6% of those participant contri-

butions (based on compensation). The Bank contributed

approximately $572, $521, and $472, in 2000, 1999, and

1998, respectively, to the plan.

In addition, the Bank maintains a deferred compensation plan

that is available to all officers and directors. The plan liability

consists of the accumulated compensation deferrals and

accrued earnings on the deferrals. The Bank’s obligation for

this plan at December 31, 2000 and 1999, was $7,045 and

$6,500, respectively.
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NOTE 12 –  INTEREST RATE EXCHANGE AGREEMENTS

In connection with the Bank’s interest rate risk management

program, the Bank uses interest rate exchange agreements.

When the Bank enters into interest rate exchange agreements,

certain assets and liabilities are normally identified and desig-

nated as financial instruments hedged by such agreements.

The interest rate exchange agreement together with the hedged

item create terms that support the Bank’s risk management

objectives. The Bank monitors both the interest rate exchange

agreements and the related hedged items to ensure that their

relationship has not changed. The Bank also may act as an

intermediary between members and third parties for interest

rate exchange agreement transactions.

Interest rate swap transactions generally involve the contractual

exchange of an adjustable rate for a fixed or another adjustable

rate interest payment obligation based on a notional principal

amount as defined in the agreement. Interest rate swaps asso-

ciated with discount notes may effectively increase the maturity

of the underlying borrowings. Interest rate caps and floors obli-

gate one of the parties to the contract to make payments to the

other if an interest rate index exceeds a specified upper

“capped” level or if the index falls below a specified “floor”

level. The Bank does not enter into speculative interest rate

swaps, caps, or floors. 

These off-balance sheet instruments may involve, to varying

degrees, elements of credit and interest rate risk. The maxi-

mum credit risk may be in excess of the amount recognized in

the Statements of Condition. The Bank has adopted policies

related to credit and interest rate risk limits and monitors trans-

actions and positions for adherence to these policies. The con-

tract or notional amounts of these instruments reflect the

extent of the Bank’s involvement in particular classes of finan-

cial instruments. For interest rate exchange agreements, the

notional amount does not represent the exposure to credit loss.

The amount potentially subject to credit loss is the estimated

cost of replacing the favorable interest rate exchange agree-

ment if the counterparty defaults and is substantially less than

the notional amount. The Bank is subject to credit risk relating

to the nonperformance by a counterparty to a non-exchange-

traded interest rate exchange agreement. However, based on

management’s credit analyses of its counterparties, all of which

are highly rated, and on the Bank’s collateral requirements, no

allowance for losses is deemed necessary by management.

Maximum credit risk is defined as the estimated cost of

replacement for favorable interest rate exchange agreements in

the event of counterparty default if the related collateral proves

to be of no value to the Bank. At December 31, 2000 and

1999, the Bank’s maximum credit risk, as defined above, was

approximately $137,000 and $153,000, respectively, including

$102,307 and $106,427 of net accrued interest receivable,

respectively. Accrued interest receivables and payables, and

the legal right to offset assets and liabilities by counterparty, in

which amounts recognized for individual transactions may be

offset against amounts recognized for other transactions with

the same counterparty, are considered in determining the max-

imum credit risk. The Bank held highly rated securities with a

fair value of $67,000 and $120,000 as collateral as of

December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

A significant number of the Bank’s interest rate exchange

agreements are transacted with financial institutions such as

major banks and broker-dealers, with no single institution 

dominating the business. Some of these banks and dealers or

their affiliates buy, sell, and distribute consolidated obliga-

tions. Assets pledged as collateral by the Bank to these coun-

terparties are more fully discussed in Note 14. The notional

principal, amortized costs, and estimated fair values by class

type of all interest rate exchange agreements outstanding at

December 31, 2000 and 1999, are detailed in Note 13.

The notional principal by class type of designated interest rate

exchange agreements associated with held-to-maturity securi-

ties, advances, and consolidated obligations outstanding at

December 31, 2000 and 1999, is detailed in Notes 4, 5, and

9, respectively. The notional principal of interest rate exchange

agreements by class in which the Bank is an intermediary is

detailed below.

Intermediation. Interest rate exchange agreements in which

the Bank is an intermediary may arise when the Bank enters

into offsetting interest rate exchange agreements with members

and other counterparties to meet the needs of members or

when the Bank enters into interest rate exchange agreements 

to offset the economic effect of other interest rate exchange

agreements that are no longer designated to advances, invest-

ments, or consolidated obligations. The notional principal of

the interest rate swap agreements in which the Bank is an

intermediary at December 31, 2000 and 1999, was $1,145,400

and $1,436,400, respectively. 

Loss on Interest Rate Exchange Agreements, Net. During

1999, the Bank terminated $575,000 in notional principal of

interest rate swaps, $1,100,000 in notional principal of inter-

est rate floors, and $500,000 in notional principal of interest

rate caps that were hedging the current and future issuance of

discount notes. During 1998, the Bank terminated $150,000

in notional principal of interest rate swaps that were hedging

the future issuance of discount notes. The unamortized balance

of the resulting deferred losses at December 31, 2000 and

1999, totaled $17,052 and $32,646, respectively, and the

losses are included in the carrying amount of discount notes.

These deferred losses are being amortized over the original

term to maturity of the terminated interest rate swaps. As men-

tioned in Note 1, as a result of the adoption of SFAS No. 133,

the remaining unamortized balance of the deferred losses at

December 31, 2000, was recognized in accumulated other com-

prehensive income, a component of capital, in January 2001 as

part of the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.
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Income Effect. The effect of the Bank’s interest rate exchange

agreements for the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999,

and 1998, was to increase (decrease) interest income, interest

expense, and other income and to produce extraordinary gains

(losses) on early retirement of debt as follows:

2000 1999 1998

Interest income:

Advances to members $151,402 $ (68,651) $ (24,992)

Held-to-maturity securities (179) (7,549) (7,592)

Resale agreements — (16) (182)

Federal funds sold — — 26

Interest expense:

Consolidated obligations 312,218 (143,583) (100,007)

Other income:

Prepayment fees (419) 701 1,477

Other income (27) (60) 4

Extraordinary gain on early 
retirement of debt $ 12,165 $ 1,489 $ —

NOTE 13 –  ESTIMATED FAIR VALUES

Cash and Due from Banks. The estimated fair values approx-

imate the carrying values.

Resale Agreements and Federal Funds Sold. The estimated fair

values of these instruments have been determined by calculating

the present value of expected cash flows for instruments with

more than three months to maturity or repricing. The discount

rates used in these calculations are the replacement rates for

securities with similar terms. For instruments with three months

or less to maturity or repricing, the recorded carrying value

approximates the estimated fair value.

Interest-Bearing Deposits in Banks and Held-to-Maturity
Securities. The estimated fair value of these instruments,

including mortgage-backed securities with more than three

months to maturity or repricing, has been determined based on

quoted prices or by calculating the present value of expected

cash flows as of the last business day of the year excluding

accrued interest. For instruments with three months or less to

maturity or repricing, the recorded carrying value approximates

the estimated fair value.

Advances. For advances with more than three months to maturity

or repricing, the estimated fair value has been determined by

calculating the present value of expected cash flows from the

advances and reducing this amount for accrued interest receivable.

The discount rates used in these calculations are the replacement

rates for advances with similar terms. Pursuant to the Finance

Board’s advances regulation, advances with a maturity or repricing

period greater than six months generally require a prepayment

fee sufficient to make the Bank financially indifferent to the

borrower’s decision to prepay the advances. Therefore, the esti-

mated fair value of advances does not assume prepayment risk.

For advances with three months or less to maturity or repricing,

the recorded carrying value approximates the estimated fair value.

Accrued Interest Receivable and Payable. The recorded carrying

value approximates the estimated fair value. 

Deposits. For deposits with more than three months to maturity

or repricing, the estimated fair value has been determined by

calculating the present value of expected future cash flows

from the deposits and reducing this amount for accrued interest

payable. The discount rates used in these calculations are the

cost of deposits with similar terms. For deposits with three

months or less to maturity or repricing, the recorded carrying

value approximates the estimated fair value.

Consolidated Obligations. The estimated fair value has been

determined based on the estimated cost of raising comparable term

debt. The estimated cost of issuing debt is determined daily based

on the primary market for debt of government-sponsored enterprises

and other indications from securities dealers; the estimated

cost of issuing debt includes non-interest selling costs.

Borrowings. For borrowings with more than three months to

maturity or repricing, the estimated fair value has been determined

by calculating the present value of expected future cash flows

from the borrowings and reducing this amount for accrued

interest payable. The discount rates used in these calculations

are the costs of borrowings with similar terms. For borrowings

with three months or less to maturity or repricing, the recorded

carrying value approximates the estimated fair value.

Commitments. The estimated fair value of the Bank’s commit-

ments to extend credit, including letters of credit, was immaterial

at December 31, 2000 and 1999.

Interest Rate Exchange Agreements. The estimated fair values

of these agreements are based on the estimated cost of interest

rate exchange agreements with similar terms or available market

prices, excluding accrued interest receivable and payable. How-

ever, active markets do not exist for many types of financial

instruments. Consequently, fair values for these instruments

must be estimated using techniques such as discounted cash

flow analysis and comparisons to similar instruments. Estimates

developed using these methods are highly subjective and require

judgments regarding significant matters such as the amount

and timing of future cash flows and the selection of discount

rates that appropriately reflect market and credit risks. Changes

in these judgments often have a material effect on the fair

value estimates. Since these estimates are made as of a

specific point in time, they are susceptible to material near-

term changes.

The estimated fair values of the Bank’s financial instruments at

December 31, 2000 and 1999, were as follows:
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments – 2000

Carr ying Net Unrealized Estimated

Value Gains (Losses) Fair Value

ASSETS

Cash and due from banks $ 4,584 $ — $ 4,584
Interest-bearing deposits in banks 2,698,000 (11,684) 2,686,316
Resale agreements 400,000 — 400,000
Federal funds sold 8,376,000 (1,450) 8,374,550
Held-to-maturity securities 15,524,693 43,382 15,568,075

Interest rate exchange agreements associated with 
held–to-maturity securities — (9,191) (9,191)

Held-to-maturity securities, net 15,524,693 34,191 15,558,884

Advances 110,031,641 334,439 110,366,080
Interest rate exchange agreements associated with advances — (193,690) (193,690)

Advances, net 110,031,641 140,749 110,172,390

Accrued interest receivable 3,136,776 — 3,136,776
Other assets 18,314 — 18,314

Total $ 140,190,008 $161,806 $140,351,814

LIABILITIES

Consolidated obligations:
Bonds $ 97,365,608 $ (39,428) $ 97,405,036
Discount notes 32,097,431 (31,125) 32,128,556
Interest rate exchange agreements associated with 

consolidated obligations — 38,152 (38,152)

Consolidated obligations, net 129,463,039 (32,401) 129,495,440

Deposits 376,413 — 376,413
Accrued interest payable 3,888,254 — 3,888,254
Other liabilities 170,157 — 170,157
Interest rate exchange agreements in which the Bank

is an intermediary — (290) 290

Total $ 133,897,863 $ (32,691) $133,930,554
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments – 1999

Carrying Net Unrealized Estimated

Value Gains (Losses) Fair Value

ASSETS

Cash and due from banks $ 1,424 $ — $ 1,424
Interest-bearing deposits in banks 1,702,000 1,585 1,703,585
Resale agreements 2,558,885 1,144 2,560,029
Federal funds sold 8,636,000 5,028 8,641,028
Held-to-maturity securities 10,382,029 (113,375) 10,268,654

Interest rate exchange agreements associated with 
held–to-maturity securities — 10,295 10,295

Held–to-maturity securities, net 10,382,029 (103,080) 10,278,949

Advances 90,513,646 (558,007) 89,955,639
Interest rate exchange agreements associated 

with advances 183 546,246 546,429

Advances, net 90,513,829 (11,761) 90,502,068

Accrued interest receivable 2,099,622 — 2,099,622
Other assets 18,258 — 18,258

Total $115,912,047 $ (107,084) $115,804,963

LIABILITIES

Consolidated obligations:
Bonds $ 76,725,689 $ 1,420,795 $ 75,304,894
Discount notes 30,676,746 (38,013) 30,714,759
Interest rate exchange agreements associated

with consolidated obligations — (1,214,172) 1,214,172

Consolidated obligations, net 107,402,435 168,610 107,233,825

Deposits 326,953 (7) 326,960
Accrued interest payable 2,606,541 — 2,606,541
Other liabilities 136,226 — 136,226
Interest rate exchange agreements in which the Bank

is an intermediary 1,493 533 960

Total $110,473,648 $ 169,136 $110,304,512
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Fair Value Supplemental Tables

The Bank enters into some interest rate swap agreements that

a counterparty may cancel at its option. While the counterparty

generally may exercise this option to cancel at any specified

cancellation date, the movement of interest rates usually deter-

mines whether the option will be exercised. If the interest rate swap

agreement has a positive fair value from the Bank’s perspective,

the counterparty is likely to exercise the option assuming interest

rates and volatilities remain the same through the next cancellation

date of the instrument. The following tables categorize interest

rate swap agreements as non-cancelable, cancelable by the

counterparty, and cancelable by the Bank:

Fair Value Supplemental Table – 2000

Gross Gross Estimated

Notional Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Interest Rate Exchange Agreements (by class) Principal Cost Gains Losses Value

Interest rate swaps:
Non-cancelable:

Bank pays fixed, receives adjustable $ 39,208,574 $ — $ 96,674 $(256,250) $(159,576)
Bank pays adjustable, receives fixed 49,394,945 — 187,383 (115,682) 71,701
Bank pays adjustable, receives adjustable 28,257,747 — 3,324 (21,629) (18,305)

Cancelable by counterparty:
Bank pays adjustable, receives fixed 35,341,300 — 76,637 (92,693) (16,056)
Bank pays fixed, receives adjustable 1,786,000 — 1,428 (24,943) (23,515)
Bank pays adjustable, receives adjustable 862,550 — 1,010 (744) 266

Cancelable by Bank: 
Bank pays fixed, receives adjustable 892,300 — 149 (7,369) (7,220)

Subtotal 155,743,416 — 366,605 (519,310) (152,705)

Interest rate caps purchased 1,178,610 — 2 (12,316) (12,314)

Total $156,922,026 $ — $ 366,607 $(531,626) $(165,019)

Fair Value Supplemental Table – 1999

Gross Gross Estimated

Notional Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Interest Rate Exchange Agreements (by class) Principal Cost Gains Losses Value

Interest rate swaps:
Non-cancelable:

Bank pays fixed, receives adjustable $ 22,460,523 $ (1,493) $ 529,811 $ (12,514) $ 515,804
Bank pays adjustable, receives fixed 46,640,398 — 7,902 (582,596) (574,694)
Bank pays adjustable, receives adjustable 24,008,159 — 34,169 (38,362) (4,193)

Cancelable by counterparty:
Bank pays adjustable, receives fixed 27,059,000 — 530 (608,870) (608,340)
Bank pays fixed, receives adjustable 2,808,500 — 31,176 (513) 30,663
Bank pays adjustable, receives adjustable 1,025,000 — 838 (19,048) (18,210)

Cancelable by Bank: 
Bank pays fixed, receives adjustable 13,550 — 562 — 562

Subtotal 124,015,130 (1,493) 604,988 (1,261,903) (658,408)

Interest rate caps purchased 37,360 183 — (183) —

Total $124,052,490 $ (1,310) $ 604,988 $ (1,262,086) $(658,408)



42

Notes to Financial Statements

F E D E R A L  H O M E  L O A N  B A N K  O F  S A N  F R A N C I S C O 2 0 0 0  A N N U A L  R E P O RT

NOTE 14 –  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

As indicated in Note 9, all FHLBanks have joint and several

liability for the consolidated obligations issued on their behalf.

Accordingly, should one or more of the FHLBanks be unable to

repay its participation in the consolidated obligations, the other

FHLBanks could be called upon to repay all or a portion of

such obligations.

Commitments that legally bind and obligate the Bank for

additional advances totaled approximately $445,000 and

$206,000 at December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Commitments generally are for periods up to 12 months.

Outstanding standby letters of credit were approximately

$682,713 and $824,537 at December 31, 2000 and 1999,

respectively. Based on management’s credit analyses and

collateral requirements, no allowance for losses is deemed

necessary by management on these advance commitments and

letters of credit. Advances funded under these advance

commitments and letters of credit are fully collateralized at the

time of issuance in a manner consistent with advances to

members (see Note 5).

These credit-related financial instruments have off-balance

sheet risk, which is essentially the same as that involved in

extending advances to members. The credit risk amounts are

equal to the notional amounts of the transactions assuming

that the members completely fail to meet their obligations and

the collateral or other security is of no value.

The Bank executes interest rate exchange agreements with

major banks and broker-dealers that have a long-term credit

rating of single-A or better from both Standard & Poor’s and

Moody’s. The Bank enters into bilateral security agreements

with all counterparties. As of December 31, 2000 and 1999,

the Bank had pledged as collateral securities of $360,636 and

$638,600, respectively, to broker-dealers that have credit risk

exposure to the Bank related to interest rate exchange agreements.

The Bank charged operating expenses net rental costs of

approximately $3,004, $2,047, and $388 for the years ending

December 31, 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively. Future

minimum rentals at December 31, 2000, were as follows:

Year Premises Equipment Total

2001 $ 2,623 $ 254 $ 2,877

2002 2,811 31 2,842

2003 2,811 12 2,823

2004 2,942 — 2,942

2005 3,036 — 3,036

Thereafter 10,980 — 10,980

Total $25,203 $ 297 $ 25,500

Lease agreements for Bank premises generally provide for

increases in the basic rentals resulting from increases in property

taxes and maintenance expenses. Such increases are not expected

to have a material effect on the Bank’s financial condition or

results of operation.

The Bank is subject to various pending legal proceedings arising

in the normal course of business. After consultation with legal

counsel, management does not anticipate that the ultimate

liability, if any, arising out of these matters will have a material

effect on the Bank’s financial condition or results of operations.

Other commitments and contingencies are discussed in Notes 6,

9, 10, and 12.



43 F E D E R A L  H O M E  L O A N  B A N K  O F  S A N  F R A N C I S C O 2 0 0 0  A N N U A L  R E P O RT

Board of Directors’ Audit Committee Charter

I . PURPOSE

The purpose of the Audit Committee of the Board is to advise

and assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities

relating to risk management, internal controls, the accounting

policies and financial reporting and disclosure practices of the

Bank, and the audit and examination of the Bank.

I I . MEMBERSHIP

The Committee will be composed of at least five members of

the Board, who must all meet the independence requirement in

Section 917.7(c) of the regulations of the Federal Housing

Finance Board.  Committee members and the Committee chair

will be designated by the Board, as follows:

• The Committee will include a balance of (i) representatives

of community financial institutions and other Bank mem-

bers and (ii) elected and appointed Directors. 

• The terms of the Committee members will be appropriately

staggered to provide for continuity of service.

• At least one member of the Committee will have extensive

accounting or related financial management experience.

I I I . POWERS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The Committee will:

1. In conjunction with the Board:

• Review, assess the adequacy of, and amend the

Committee charter (as needed) on an annual basis or

more often, as appropriate

• Readopt and reapprove the Committee charter at least

every three years

2. Direct senior management to maintain the reliability and

integrity of the accounting policies and financial reporting

and disclosure practices of the Bank.

3. Review the basis for the Bank’s financial statements and

the external auditor’s opinion rendered with respect to the

financial statements (including the nature and extent of

any significant changes in accounting principles or their

application in the financial statements) and ensure that

policies are in place that are reasonably designed to

achieve disclosure and transparency regarding the Bank’s

true financial performance and governance practices.

4. Oversee the internal audit function by:

• Selecting, evaluating and, where appropriate, replacing

the Director of Audit, who may be removed only with

the approval of the Committee

• Assessing the performance and determining the com-

pensation of the Director of Audit

• Requiring that the Director of Audit report directly to

the Committee on substantive matters and be ultimately

accountable to the Committee and the Board

• Reviewing and approving the internal audit department

charter

• Reviewing budget and staffing needs for the Bank’s

internal audit department and making appropriate

budget and staffing recommendations to the Board for

approval

• Reviewing and approving the internal audit plan and

revisions, as needed

• Reviewing the scope of audit services required, significant

accounting policies, significant risks and exposures, audit

activities and audit findings

• Reviewing internal audit department compliance with

the Institute of Internal Auditors Standards for the

Professional Practice of Internal Auditing

5. Oversee the external audit function by:

• Approving the external auditor’s annual engagement

letter (if applicable)

• Reviewing the performance of the external auditor

• Making recommendations to the Board regarding the

appointment, renewal or termination of the external

auditor

6. Provide an independent, direct channel of communication

between the Board and the internal and external auditors.

7. Conduct or authorize investigations into any matters with-

in the Committee’s scope of responsibilities.

8. Ensure that senior management has established and is

maintaining an adequate internal control system within the

Bank by:

• Reviewing the Bank’s internal control system and the

resolution of identified material weaknesses and

reportable conditions in the internal control system,

including the prevention or detection of management

override or compromise of the internal control system

• Reviewing the programs and policies of the Bank

designed to ensure compliance with applicable laws,

regulations and policies and monitoring the results of

these compliance efforts
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Board of Directors’ Audit Committee Charter

9. Review the policies and procedures established by senior

management to assess and monitor implementation of the

Bank’s strategic business plan and the operating goals and

objectives contained in the plan.

10. Review with senior management and the external auditor

at the completion of the annual audit:

• The Bank’s annual financial statements and related

notes

• The external auditor’s audit of the financial statements

and audit report

• Any significant changes required in the external audi-

tor’s audit plan

• Any serious difficulties or disputes between the exter-

nal auditor and management encountered during the

course of the audit

11. Review with senior management and the Director of Audit:

• Significant audit findings and recommendations and

management’s responses

• Management’s implementation of significant audit rec-

ommendations

• Difficulties encountered in the course of any internal

audit, including restrictions on the scope of the audi-

tors’ work or access to required information

• Legal and regulatory matters within the scope of any

audit that may have a material effect on the financial

statements of the Bank, compliance with the Bank’s

policies and programs, and reports received from regu-

lators

In carrying out its responsibilities, the Committee may rely on

the assistance, advice and recommendations of Bank manage-

ment and other advisors, as needed, and may refer specific

matters to other committees of the Board.  The Committee will

report its activities and recommendations to the Board through

the Committee chair.

IV. MEETINGS

The Committee will meet at least four times per year, and more

frequently as needed, as determined by the Board, the

Committee chair, the Bank President, or the Director of Audit.
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Diana Yazzie Devine

Executive Director

Native American Connections, Inc.

Phoenix, Arizona

David Ferguson

Principal

Thomas Safran & Associates

Los Angeles, California

Rodney E. Fernandez

Executive Director

Cabrillo Economic Development 

Corporation

Saticoy, California

Carol Galante

President

BRIDGE Housing Corporation

San Francisco, California

Pete C. Garcia

President and Chief Executive Officer

Chicanos Por La Causa, Inc.

Phoenix, Arizona

Jane Graf

President

Mercy Housing California

San Francisco, California

Glenn D. Hayes

Executive Director

Neighborhood Housing Services of 

Orange County

Anaheim, California

Stanley Keasling

Vice President

Mercy Housing California

West Sacramento, California

Monique Lawshe

Executive Director

A Community of Friends

Los Angeles, California

Linda Mandolini

Director of Development

Eden Housing, Inc.

Hayward, California

Michael T. Mullin

President and Chief Executive Officer

Nevada Housing and Neighborhood

Development Corporation

Las Vegas, Nevada

Susan M. Reynolds

Executive Director

Community Housing of North County

Escondido, California

Ann Sewill

Director, California Program

The Enterprise Foundation

Los Angeles, California

Mary Ellen Shay

Legislative Advocate

California Association of Local Housing

Finance Agencies

Sacramento, California

Mark Van Brunt

Director

Raza Development Fund

Phoenix, Arizona
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2001 Directors and Management

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mary Lee Widener, Chairman

Chief Executive Officer

Neighborhood Housing Services of 

America

Oakland, California

J. Lance Erikson, Vice Chairman

Officer

Washington Mutual Bank

Stockton, California

Roberta Achtenberg

Senior Vice President, Public Policy

San Francisco Chamber of Commerce

San Francisco, California

Robert N. Barone

Director

First Security Bank of Nevada

Las Vegas, Nevada

Craig G. Blunden

Chairman, President and 

Chief Executive Officer

Provident Savings Bank

Riverside, California

John J. Gisi

President and Chief Executive Officer

National Bank of Arizona

Phoenix, Arizona

Elihu M. Harris

Attorney at Law

Oakland, California 

Babette E. Heimbuch

President and Chief Executive Officer

First Federal Bank of California

Santa Monica, California

D. Tad Lowrey

Chairman, President and Chief 

Executive Officer

Jackson Federal Bank

Brea, California

Elvin W. Moon

President and Chief Executive Officer

E. W. Moon, Inc.

Los Angeles, California

Robert F. Nielsen

President

Shelter Properties, Inc.

Reno, Nevada 

Daniel R. Ortega, Jr. 

Partner

Law Offices of Ortega 

& Associates, P.C.

Phoenix, Arizona

Herbert M. Sandler

Chairman of the Board and 

Chief Executive Officer

World Savings Bank

Oakland, California

Richard H. Terzian

Executive Vice President and 

Chief Financial Officer

California Federal Bank

San Francisco, California

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Dean Schultz

President and Chief Executive Officer

Steven T. Honda

Senior Vice President and 

Chief Financial Officer

Lisa B. MacMillen

Senior Vice President, General Counsel

and Corporate Secretary

David H. Martens

Senior Vice President, Credit and

Collateral Risk Management and

Community Investment Programs

Vera Maytum

Senior Vice President and Controller

Albert McCloskey

Senior Vice President and Director

of Internal Audit

Kenneth C. Miller

Senior Vice President, 

Financial Risk Management

David A. O’Brien

Senior Vice President and Treasurer

Lawrence H. Parks

Senior Vice President, 

External and Legislative Affairs

Stephen P. Traynor

Senior Vice President, 

Sales and Marketing

George T. Wofford

Senior Vice President, 

Information Services

VICE PRESIDENTS

Anita L. Adams

Francisco Aleman

Richard A. Alesci

Dwight S. Alexander

Lance W. Auer

Jennifer J. Burlison

Francine J. Constable

Kevin A. Gong

David M. Grout

Marilyn Hardin

Joseph F. Humphrey

Cynthia K. Lopez

John S. McCormack

Michelle A. Meyer

Rosalind M. Nikolaieff

Patricia M. Remch

Suzanne Titus-Johnson

Curtis Tung

Anthony T. Wong

James E. Yacenda
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